



Safeguarding Policy

This policy details Safeguarding procedures at Oundle School (OS) and Laxton Junior School (LJS) including the Early Years Foundation Stage. It should be read in conjunction with the key documents identified in Appendix 7. References to Staff in this policy include all Staff and volunteers and everyone working for and on behalf of the School.

Please refer to Section 12 for information on COVID-19 arrangements. This section replaced the COVID Addendum to the Safeguarding Policy.

Table of Contents (Click to follow links)

Contents

1.	SAFEGUARDING INFORMATION FOR ALL OS AND LJS STAFF AND OS SENIOR PUPILS	3
2.	SCHOOL ETHOS	6
3.	NATIONAL AND LOCAL FRAMEWORK	6
4.	THRESHOLDS FOR REFERRAL	6
5.	SAFEGUARDING GUIDANCE	8
6.	INDICATORS OF ABUSE, NEGLECT AND SAFEGUARDING ISSUES	8
7.	SAFEGUARDING ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	13
8.	SAFER RECRUITMENT	14
9.	SAFEGUARDING TRAINING	14
10.	WHAT ALL STAFF NEED TO KNOW	16
	(a) The kinds of issues which give rise to safeguarding concerns	16
	(b) The importance of identifying children who may need early help	22
	(c) The guidance for identifying child abuse	23
	(d) Staff's duty to report concerns and the referrals process	23
	(e) What to do if a child or adult makes an allegation of child abuse	25
	(f) The rules about confidentiality	26
	(g) Avoiding poor practice	26
11.	ALLEGATIONS: PROCEDURES	26
12.	COVID-19	27

(a) Guidance	27
(b) Reporting a Concern	27
(c) Safeguarding Training and Safer Recruitment	27
(d) Attendance Arrangements and Monitoring	
(e) Supporting Children who are Learning at Home	
(f) Supporting Emotional and Physical Wellbeing	
(g) Supporting Vulnerable Children	
(h) Clinically extremely vulnerable (CEV) children	
(i) Supporting children on site	
(j) Peer on Peer Abuse	
(k) Online Safety	
(1) Remote Teaching and Learning	
(m) Contingency Planning	
Appendix 1 Designated Roles – Further Information	32
Appendix 2 Safeguarding in the Early Years Foundation Stage	39
Appendix 3 Contact details published to Oundle School Pupils	41
Appendix 4 Advice for schools: Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: how to respond to an incident	42
Appendix 5 'Low Level' Concerns, Referrals Procedure and the School's Duty to Report	43
Appendix 6 Safeguarding Adults	48
Appendix 7 Key Documents	49

1. SAFEGUARDING INFORMATION FOR ALL OS AND LJS STAFF AND OS SENIOR PUPILS



Safeguarding Information for All Staff



The Safeguarding Team - who to talk to

Oundle School and Laxton Junior School are dedicated to promoting and safeguarding the welfare of all children in their care. Safeguarding is everyone's responsibility and staff are encouraged to be vigilant and to maintain an attitude that 'it could happen here'.

Advice and guidance relating to Safeguarding issues can be sought at any time from the Safeguarding Team who will deal with your query/ any referrals with sensitivity and due regard for the feelings of the child.

The Governor with responsibility for Safeguarding is Mrs Rebecca Lawes. The Designated Staff are below

Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSLs) for Oundle School and Laxton Junior School



Deputy Head/DSL OS Mrs Daviona Watt 01832 277113 diw@oundleschool.org.uk



Director of Safeguarding/ Deputy DSL OS Mr Ben Raudnitz 01832 277284 br@oundleschool.org.uk



Deputy Head/DSL LIS Ms Stacey Crump 07845 526372 smc@oundleschool.org.uk



Deputy DSL LIS Mr Fraser Harper 07725 165064 fh@oundleschool.org.uk

Designated Child Protection Officers (CPOs) for Oundle School



Tabitha Dorman tad@oundleschool.org.uk

Proctor (CPO)



Mr Stephen Heath srh@oundleschool.org.uk

Sports Centre Safeguarding Team



Sports Centre Manager and DSL Sally Dayus sdayus@oundleschool.org.uk



Shahnaz Ford saf@oundleschool.org.uk



sair@oundleschool.org.uk



tad@oundleschool.org.uk

All staff are expected to be familiar with the School's Safeguarding Policy and to have read Keeping Children Safe in Education Part 1 (abridged version also available for reference at Annex A) and Annex B.

All staff are given Safeguarding training to help them fulfil their responsibilities. This occurs on induction and via regular updates and refresher training.

You can contact the designated staff on email or via Teams.



Operations Manager and CPO Ed Tate etate@oundleschool.org.uk



Front of House Manager and CPO Alexis Gray agray@oundleschool.org.uk



Activities Manager and CPO Beth Goodman bgoodman@oundleschool.org.uk





Your Safeguarding Training - key things to remember

Be Aware	Early Help	Current Issues
of the latest developments in	Early intervention: the best way to deal with issues and pre-empt them from turning into bigger problems.	All Staff are required to look out for the kinds of issues which give rise to Safeguarding concerns. These include:
Safeguarding	If Staff have any concerns about a child's welfare, they	· Peer on peer abuse incl. (cyber)bullying, physical or
	should act on them immediately. Early information sharing is vital for effective identification, assessment	sexual abuse/harassment, initiation type violence/rituals
	and allocation of appropriate support. If Staff are	Mental health issues
	unsure they should always speak to the Designated Safeguarding Lead and/or her Deputy, and follow the School's Safeguarding policy and procedures.	 Youth produced sexual imagery/ nudes and semi nudes (images and/or videos)
	All Staff should know about the Northamptonshire	Child sexual exploitation
	Safeguarding Children Partnership	Radicalisation/extremism
	(NSCP) Thresholds Guidance 2018	 Serious violence/domestic abuse
	document (updated 2020) which is available from the Safeguarding	 FGM/forced marriage/'so-called' honour-based violence
	Team if they feel a child is in	 Children missing education/private fostering
	need of early help.	Further details are available in the School's Safeguarding
	help-and-protection-for-children/Documents/NSCB%20	Policy and in Keeping Children Safe in Education Part 1
	Thresholds%20Guidance.pdf	(abridged version also available for reference at Annex A)
	This document is available in the Staff Handbook.	and Annex B.
Be Alert	Categories of Significant Harm	Possible Indicators of Abuse
to possible	Neglect	 Changes in normal behaviour/attitude
Safeguarding	Physical Abuse	 Social withdrawal
Concerns	Sexual Abuse	Restlessness and aimlessness
	Emotional Abuse	 Sleeping and eating disturbance Unexplained change in work ethos
		Recurrent stomach/headaches
		Any unexplained bruising
		Self-harming
Remember	Receiving a Disclosure from a Child	How to Refer:
your training	Do not promise confidentiality	Concerns about a child
	Listen carefully	 Report the same day to member of Safeguarding Team
	Ask open (not leading) questions	 Do not inform person about whom the complaint is made
	 Make notes asap quoting the child's words as far as possible 	 If a child is in immediate danger or left alone call police (03000 111222 or 999) and/or ambulance (999) if needed
	Do not investigate	Concerns about another staff member (whistleblowing)
	Do not tell the person about whom the child has	 Report directly to Head of OS/LIS (or DSL in their absence)
	complained	· If concern is about the Head, straight to Chair of Governors
	 Refer to a member of Safeguarding Team on the 	· You may consider discussing concerns with one of the DSLs
	same day	and may make any report through them
		 Observe confidentiality rules (see below)
Direct	Staff may also refer directly to the Northamptonshire	Safeguarding Children Partnership.
Direct Referrals	 Staff may also refer directly to the Northamptonshire Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Age 	
	 Staff may also refer directly to the Northamptonshire Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Age and the Designated Officers. 	
	Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Age	ncy Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
	 Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Age and the Designated Officers. 	ncy Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ren/Pages/report-a-concern.aspx
	 Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Ager and the Designated Officers. Link: www.nctrust.co.uk/help-and-protection-for-children 	ncy Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ren/Pages/report-a-concern.aspx
	 Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Ager and the Designated Officers. Link: www.nctrust.co.uk/help-and-protection-for-children 	ncy Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ren/Pages/report-a-concern.aspx
Referrals	 Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Ager and the Designated Officers. Link: www.nctrust.co.uk/help-and-protection-for-childr Link: www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/health-profess 	ncy Safeguarding Hub (MASH) en/Pages/report-a-concern.aspx ionals/taking-action/designated-officer Remember to inform the DSL as soon as possible so that an appropriate course of action can be agreed.
	 Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Ager and the Designated Officers. Link: www.nctrust.co.uk/help-and-protection-for-childr Link: www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/health-profess Image: Image: Ima	ncy Safeguarding Hub (MASH) en/Pages/report-a-concern.aspx ionals/taking-action/designated-officer Remember to inform the DSL as soon as possible so that an appropriate

Oundle School Safeguarding Information for Senior Pupils



Oundle School is dedicated to promoting and safeguarding the welfare of all pupils. Safeguarding is everyone's responsibility and senior pupils are asked to be vigilant and to play their part in the provision of timely and appropriate care.

Advice and guidance relating to Safeguarding issues can be sought at any time from the Safeguarding Team who will deal with your query/any referrals with sensitivity and due regard for the feelings of the pupil concerned.

The Governor with responsibility for Safeguarding is Mrs Rebecca Lawes.

The Designated Staff for Oundle School are below. You can contact them on email or via Teams.

Designated Child Protection Officers (CPOs)

Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSLs)





Mr Dr



Proctor (CPO)

ed/DSL Mrs Wett

01832 277113

Deputy DSL Mr Raudnitz 01832 277284 dw@oundeschool.org.uk br@oundieschool.org.uk

tad@oundieschool.org.uk

wirtfound d.org.uk

M-H ngak

Mrs Talbet

emat@ounde

sh@ounde

Safeguarding training is provided by Hsms at the start of the Lower Sixth and again in preparation for leadership in your final year. All Senior Pupils are expected to be familiar with the information on this sheet.

Miss Ford

sef@ounde

choolorguk

Be Aware of the latest developments in Safeguarding	Early Help Early intervention is the best way to deal with issues and pre-empt them from turning into bigger problems. Senior pupils should know about the importance of accessing Early Help and refer concerns to Hsms or a member of the Safeguarding Team for advice.	Current Issues The School is required to look out for the kinds of issues which give rise to Safeguarding concerns. These include: • Peer on peer abuse incl. (cyber)bullying, physical or sexual abuse/ harassment, initiation type violence/rituals • Mental health issues • Youth produced sexual imagery/nudes and semi nudes (images and/or videos) • Child sexual exploitation • Radicalisation/extremism
		 Serious violence/domestic abuse FGM/forced marriage/'so-called' honour-based violence Children missing education/private fostering
Be Alert to possible Safeguarding Concerns	Categories of Significant Harm Any cases of significant harm should be reported to a member of the Safeguarding Team. Significant harm includes: • Neglect • Physical Abuse • Sexual Abuse • Emotional Abuse	Possible Indicators of Abuse • Changes in normal behaviour/attitude • Social withdrawal • Restlessness and aimlessness • Sleeping and eating disturbance • Unexplained change in work ethos • Recurrent stomach/headaches • Any unexplained bruising • Self-harming
Receiving a Disclosure from a Pupil our training • Do not promise confidentiality • Listen carefully and ask only open (not leading) questions • Make notes asap quoting the child's words as far as possible • Do not investigate and do not tell the person about whom the child has complained • Refer to a member of Safeguarding Team on the same day • You may consider discussing concerns with a member of staff and may make any report through the same day		rds as far as possible erson about whom the child has complained n on the same day

September 2021

2. SCHOOL ETHOS

Safeguarding is integrated into the Oundle School and Laxton Junior School ('the School') ethos and the School is committed to safeguarding the welfare of all those who come into contact with it and with whom it interacts. This includes children and adults. The School will follow up on all safeguarding concerns appropriately in the interests of ensuring a culture of safety, equality and protection.

The School is dedicated to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of its boarding and day pupils, regardless of age, ability, race, culture, religion, sexuality or class, considering at all times what is in the best interests of the child. The aim is to prevent safeguarding concerns from arising wherever possible. Boarding schools have additional factors to consider with regard to safeguarding, and the School is alert to signs of abuse in this setting (eg inappropriate pupil relationships and the potential for peer on peer abuse), working with the local authority if necessary to address any concerns. The School has regard to the National Minimum Standards for Boarding Schools in this context.

Staff are trained to follow Safeguarding procedures and to recognise the importance of early intervention when there are welfare concerns. The School makes provision for teaching children to keep themselves safe, including online. The development of appropriate support structures for children who are struggling is key to ensuring that children receive the right help at the right time, with appropriate risk management where necessary. Robust systems for ongoing monitoring and review are essential to ensuring that there is continuity of care and a flexible approach where necessary, with the best interests of the child remaining firmly at the centre of our thinking. Our approach is founded on the Team around the Child (TAC) model, so as to ensure that information is shared appropriately between all who need to know.

Appropriate arrangements are in place to keep children safe where the School's facilities/premises are hired out to other organisations, including a requirement that such organisations have appropriate safeguarding policies and procedures in place. Any concerns are followed up robustly, in accordance with the School's own safeguarding procedures.

3. NATIONAL AND LOCAL FRAMEWORK

Safeguarding is a statutory responsibility. The School follows guidance in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (KCSIE) (Dept. for Education 2021) and is committed to working together in accordance with the guidance published in 'Working Together to Safeguard Children' (HM Government July 2018). The School observes the Independent Schools Standards, the Boarding Schools National Minimum Standards (April 2015) and the requirements of the Early Years Foundation Stage.

As a 'relevant agency' working with the three statutory 'safeguarding partners' (Northamptonshire County Council, Northamptonshire Constabulary and Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Groups) under new arrangements introduced in September 2019, in response to 'Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018', the School is engaged in and contributes to multi-agency working, following local procedures published by the Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership: see '<u>Northamptonshire</u> Safeguarding Children Partnership (NSCP) Thresholds Guidance 2018' (Oct. 2018 updated Sept. 2020).

4. THRESHOLDS FOR REFERRAL

If Staff have any concerns about a child's welfare, they should act on them immediately, following this Safeguarding Policy and referring to a member of the Safeguarding Team. The DSL will decide on the most appropriate course of action and whether the concerns should be referred to children's social care referring to <u>Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (NSCP) Thresholds Guidance 2018</u>' (Oct. 2018 updated Sept. 2020).

Click on <u>Contact details</u> for Early Help support, the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the Designated Officer at Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership. This information is published on the Safeguarding Guidance Posters for Staff which are displayed around the School and can be found at the start of this policy. See also: <u>http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/schools/referrals-eha/designated-officer/(01604 364031/ 01604 367862/ 01604 362633)</u>.

- Concerns about children who have suffered or are likely to suffer significant harm are reported to Children's Services (or, if more appropriate, the Channel programme) immediately in accordance with the procedures outlined in this policy.
- Concerns about children who are in need of additional support from one or more agencies are dealt with via inter-agency assessment using local processes, including use of the Early Help Assessment (EHA) and Team around the Child (TAC) approaches. The School is committed to working with children and parents to ensure that Early Help is accessed where necessary. If children or parents refuse to consent to an EHA, the School will assess the situation and make decisions as appropriate, taking advice from Children's Services if this is felt necessary.

If it is decided to make a referral to children's social care the parent will be informed, unless to do so would place the child at further risk or undermine the collection of evidence eg obtaining forensic evidence. All concerns, discussions and decisions will be recorded in writing. Informing parents does not require seeking their consent to share the information with professionals who need to know.

The DSL will provide guidance on the appropriate action. Options will include:

- Managing any support for the child internally via the school's own pastoral support processes
- An Early Help Assessment or
- A referral for statutory services eg the child is or might be in need or suffering or likely to suffer significant harm

Early Help - If early help is appropriate, the DSL will generally lead on liaising with other agencies and setting up an inter-agency assessment as appropriate. Staff may be required to support other agencies and professionals in an early help assessment, in some cases acting as the lead practitioner. Any such cases should be kept under constant review and consideration given to a referral to children's social care for assessment for statutory services if the child's situation does not appear to be improving or is getting worse.

Children in Need – A child in need is defined under the *Children Act 1989* as a child who is unlikely to achieve or maintain a reasonable level of health or development, or whose health and development is likely to be significantly or further impaired, without the provision of services; or a child who is disabled. The Local Authority is required to provide services for children in need for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting their welfare. Children in need may be assessed under section 17 of the *Children Act 1989*.

Children suffering or likely to suffer significant harm - Local authorities, with the help of other organisations as appropriate, have a duty to make enquiries under section 47 of the *Children Act 1989* if they have reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant harm. Such enquiries enable them to decide whether they should take any action to safeguard and promote the child's welfare and must be initiated where there are concerns about maltreatment, including all forms of abuse and neglect, female genital mutilation or other so-called honour based abuse, and extra-familial threats like radicalisation and sexual exploitation.

5. SAFEGUARDING GUIDANCE

All Staff are responsible for promoting and safeguarding the welfare of children, and are expected to read Part 1 (abridged version also available for reference at Annex A) and Annex B of 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021).

All Staff are expected to be alert to the types of abuse and neglect defined in KCSIE Part 1, including physical abuse, emotional abuse and sexual abuse and exploitation; the specific safeguarding issues identified in KCSIE Annex B; the signs and forms of abuse; and what to do if they have a concern. Further details are available in Sections 6 and 10 of this policy and on the Safeguarding Guidance Posters for Staff and Senior Pupils which can be found at the start of this policy and are displayed around the School. Further information can be found in 'What to do if you're worried a child is being abused: Advice for practitioners' (HM Government March 2015).

In addition to this Safeguarding Policy, the School issues guidelines to all Staff on the prevention of abuse through its Safeguarding Training Programme, Staff Code of Conduct, Pupil Behaviour Policy and the policies in the Safeguarding section of the Staff Handbook. Those Staff taking trips are required to take note of the School's Trips Policy and Procedures.

Guidance covers:

- The need for all Staff to be vigilant in spotting and reporting clear suspicions that abuse may be occurring.
- Avoidance of inappropriate physical contact between Staff and pupils (including where children are engaged in close one-to-one teaching, particularly in specialist music and sports provision).
- Avoidance of inappropriately spending time alone with individual pupils.
- Staff supervision of high risk situations.

6. INDICATORS OF ABUSE, NEGLECT AND SAFEGUARDING ISSUES

All Staff must have regard to the indicators of abuse and neglect, and the safeguarding issues that put children at risk of harm, as defined in Keeping Children Safe in Education (KCSIE 2021), as follows:

Abuse and neglect

20. *All* staff should be aware of indicators of abuse and neglect. Knowing what to look for is vital for the early identification of abuse and neglect (see paragraphs 26-30), and specific safeguarding issues such as child criminal exploitation and child sexual exploitation (see paragraphs 32-39) so that staff are able to identify cases of children who may be in need of help or protection.

21. If staff are unsure, they should **always** speak to the designated safeguarding lead, or deputy.

22. All school and college staff should be aware that abuse, neglect and safeguarding issues are rarely standalone events and cannot be covered by one definition or one label alone. In most cases, multiple issues will overlap with one another, therefore staff should always be vigilant and always raise any concerns with their designated safeguarding lead (or deputy).

23. All staff should be aware that safeguarding incidents and/or behaviours can be associated with factors outside the school or college and/or can occur between children outside of these environments. All staff, but especially the designated safeguarding lead (and deputies) should consider whether children are at risk of abuse or exploitation in situations outside their families. Extra-familial harms take a variety of different forms and children can be vulnerable to multiple harms including (but not limited to) sexual exploitation, criminal exploitation, sexual abuse, serious youth violence and county lines.

24. All staff should be aware that technology is a significant component in many safeguarding and wellbeing issues. Children are at risk of abuse online as well as face to face. In many cases abuse will take place concurrently via online channels and in daily life. Children can also abuse their peers online, this can take the form of abusive, harassing, and misogynistic messages, the non-consensual sharing of indecent images, especially around chat groups, and the sharing of abusive images and pornography, to those who do not want to receive such content.

25. In all cases, if staff are unsure, they should always speak to the designated safeguarding lead (or deputy).

Indicators of abuse and neglect

26. *Abuse*: a form of maltreatment of a child. Somebody may abuse or neglect a child by inflicting harm or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children may be abused in a family or in an institutional or community setting by those known to them or, more rarely, by others. Abuse can take place wholly online, or technology may be used to facilitate offline abuse. Children may be abused by an adult or adults or by another child or children.

27. *Physical abuse*: a form of abuse which may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or scalding, drowning, suffocating or otherwise causing physical harm to a child. Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or carer fabricates the symptoms of, or deliberately induces, illness in a child.

28. *Emotional abuse*: the persistent emotional maltreatment of a child such as to cause severe and adverse effects on the child's emotional development. It may involve conveying to a child that they are worthless or unloved, inadequate, or valued only insofar as they meet the needs of another person. It may include not giving the child opportunities to express their views, deliberately silencing them or 'making fun' of what they say or how they communicate. It may feature age or developmentally inappropriate expectations being imposed on children. These may include interactions that are beyond a child's developmental capability as well as overprotection and limitation of exploration and learning or preventing the child from participating in normal social interaction. It may involve seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another. It may involve serious bullying (including cyberbullying), causing children frequently to feel frightened or in danger, or the exploitation or corruption of children. Some level of emotional abuse is involved in all types of maltreatment of a child, although it may occur alone.

29. Sexual abuse: involves forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual activities, not necessarily involving violence, whether or not the child is aware of what is happening. The activities may involve physical contact, including assault by penetration (for example rape or oral sex) or non-penetrative acts such as masturbation, kissing, rubbing, and touching outside of clothing. They may also include non-contact activities, such as involving children in looking at, or in the production of, sexual images, watching sexual activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually inappropriate ways, or grooming a child in preparation for abuse. Sexual abuse can take place online, and technology can be used to facilitate offline abuse. Sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated by adult males. Women can also commit acts of sexual abuse, as can other children. The sexual abuse of children by other children is a specific safeguarding issue (also known as peer on peer abuse) in education and all staff should be aware of it and of their school or college's policy and procedures for dealing with it, (see paragraph 49).

30. **Neglect**: the persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child's health or development. Neglect may occur during pregnancy, for example, as a result of maternal substance abuse. Once a child is born, neglect may involve a parent or carer failing to: provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from home or abandonment); protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger; ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate care-givers); or ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment. It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child's basic emotional needs.

Safeguarding issues

31. All staff should have an awareness of safeguarding issues that can put children at risk of harm. Behaviours linked to issues such as drug taking and or alcohol misuse, deliberately missing education and consensual and non-consensual sharing of nude and semi-nude images and/or videos can be signs that children are at risk. Other safeguarding issues all staff should be aware of include:

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE)

32. Both CSE and CCE are forms of abuse that occur where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance in power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child into taking part in sexual or criminal activity, in exchange for something the victim needs or wants, and/or for the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator and/or through violence or the threat of violence. CSE and CCE can affect children, both male and female and can include children who have been moved (commonly referred to as trafficking) for the purpose of exploitation.

Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE)

33. Some specific forms of CCE can include children being forced or manipulated into transporting drugs or money through county lines, working in cannabis factories, shoplifting or pickpocketing. They can also be forced or manipulated into committing vehicle crime or threatening/committing serious violence to others.

34. Children can become trapped by this type of exploitation as perpetrators can threaten victims (and their families) with violence, or entrap and coerce them into debt. They may be coerced into carrying weapons such as knives or begin to carry a knife for a sense of protection from harm from others. As children involved in criminal exploitation often commit crimes themselves, their vulnerability as victims is not always recognised by adults and professionals, (particularly older children), and they are not treated as victims despite the harm they have experienced. They may still have been criminally exploited even if the activity appears to be something they have agreed or consented to.

35. It is important to note that the experience of girls who are criminally exploited can be very different to that of boys. The indicators may not be the same, however professionals should be aware that girls are at risk of criminal exploitation too. It is also important to note that both boys and girls being criminally exploited may be at higher risk of sexual exploitation.

Further information about CCE including definitions and indicators is included in Annex B.

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

36. CSE is a form of child sexual abuse. Sexual abuse may involve physical contact, including assault by penetration (for example, rape or oral sex) or nonpenetrative acts such as masturbation, kissing, rubbing, and touching outside clothing. It may include non-contact activities, such as involving children in the production of sexual images, forcing children to look at sexual images or watch sexual activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually inappropriate ways or grooming a child in preparation for abuse including via the internet.

37. CSE can occur over time or be a one-off occurrence, and may happen without the child's immediate knowledge e.g. through others sharing videos or images of them on social media.

38. CSE can affect any child, who has been coerced into engaging in sexual activities. This includes 16 and 17 year olds who can legally consent to have sex. Some children may not realise they are being exploited e.g. they believe they are in a genuine romantic relationship.

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)

40. Whilst **all** staff should speak to the designated safeguarding lead (or deputy) with regard to any concerns about female genital mutilation (FGM), there is a specific legal duty on teachers. If a teacher, in the course of their work in the profession, discovers that an act of FGM appears to have been carried out on a girl under the age of 18, the teacher must report this to the police. See Annex B for further details.

Mental Health

41. All staff should be aware that mental health problems can, in some cases, be an indicator that a child has suffered or is at risk of suffering abuse, neglect or exploitation.

42. Only appropriately trained professionals should attempt to make a diagnosis of a mental health problem. Education staff, however, are well placed to observe children day-to-day and identify those whose behaviour suggests that they may be experiencing a mental health problem or be at risk of developing one.

43. Where children have suffered abuse and neglect, or other potentially traumatic adverse childhood experiences, this can have a lasting impact throughout childhood, adolescence and into adulthood. It is key that staff are aware of how these children's experiences, can impact on their mental health, behaviour, and education.

44. Schools and colleges can access a range of advice to help them identify children in need of extra mental health support, this includes working with external agencies. More information can be found in the mental health and behaviour in schools guidance, colleges may also wish to follow this guidance as best practice. Public Health England has produced a range of resources to support secondary school teachers to promote positive health, wellbeing and resilience among children. See Rise Above for links to all materials and lesson plans.

45. If staff have a mental health concern about a child that is also a safeguarding concern, immediate action should be taken, following their child protection policy, and speaking to the designated safeguarding lead or a deputy.

Peer on peer abuse (child on child)

46. All staff should be aware that children can abuse other children (often referred to as peer on peer abuse). And that it can happen both inside and outside of school or college and online. It is important that all staff recognise the indicators and signs of peer on peer abuse and know how to identify it and respond to reports.

47. All staff should understand, that even if there are no reports in their schools or colleges it does not mean it is not happening, it may be the case that it is just not being reported. As such it is important if staff have any concerns regarding peer on peer abuse they should speak to their designated safeguarding lead (or deputy).

48. It is essential that all staff understand the importance of challenging inappropriate behaviours between peers, many of which are listed below, that are actually abusive in nature. Downplaying certain behaviours, for example dismissing sexual harassment as "just banter", "just having a laugh", "part of growing up" or "boys being boys" can lead to a culture of unacceptable behaviours, an unsafe environment for children and

in worst case scenarios a culture that normalises abuse leading to children accepting it as normal and not coming forward to report it.

49. Peer on peer abuse is most likely to include, but may not be limited to:

- bullying (including cyberbullying, prejudice-based and discriminatory bullying);
- abuse in intimate personal relationships between peers;
- physical abuse such as hitting, kicking, shaking, biting, hair pulling, or otherwise causing physical harm (this may include an online element which facilitates, threatens and/or encourages physical abuse);
- sexual violence, such as rape, assault by penetration and sexual assault; (this may include an online element which facilitates, threatens and/or encourages sexual violence);
- sexual harassment, such as sexual comments, remarks, jokes and online sexual harassment, which may be standalone or part of a broader pattern of abuse;
- causing someone to engage in sexual activity without consent, such as forcing someone to strip, touch themselves sexually, or to engage in sexual activity with a third party;
- consensual and non-consensual sharing of nude and semi-nude images and/or videos (also known as sexting or youth produced sexual imagery);
- upskirting, which typically involves taking a picture under a person's clothing without their permission, with the intention of viewing their genitals or buttocks to obtain sexual gratification, or cause the victim humiliation, distress or alarm; and
- *initiation/hazing type violence and rituals (this could include activities involving harassment, abuse or humiliation used as a way of initiating a person into a group and may also include an online element).*

50. All staff should be clear as to the school's or college's policy and procedures with regard to peer on peer abuse and the important role they have to play in preventing it and responding where they believe a child may be at risk from it.

Serious violence

51. All staff should be aware of the indicators, which may signal children are at risk from, or are involved with serious violent crime. These may include increased absence from school, a change in friendships or relationships with older individuals or groups, a significant decline in performance, signs of self-harm or a significant change in wellbeing, or signs of assault or unexplained injuries. Unexplained gifts or new possessions could also indicate that children have been approached by, or are involved with, individuals associated with criminal networks or gangs and may be at risk of criminal exploitation (see paragraphs 33-35).

52. All staff should be aware of the range of risk factors which increase the likelihood of involvement in serious violence, such as being male, having been frequently absent or permanently excluded from school, having experienced child maltreatment and having been involved in offending, such as theft or robbery. Advice for schools and colleges is provided in the Home Office's Preventing youth violence and gang involvement and its Criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults: county lines guidance.

Additional information and support

53. Departmental advice What to Do if You Are Worried a Child is Being Abused - Advice for Practitioners provides more information on understanding and identifying abuse and neglect. Examples of potential indicators of abuse and neglect are highlighted throughout the advice and will be particularly helpful for school and college staff. The NSPCC website also provides useful additional information on abuse and neglect and what to look out for.

54. Annex B contains important additional information about specific forms of abuse and safeguarding issues. School and college leaders and those staff who work directly with children should read the annex.

It is School policy that all Staff read Part 1 and Annex B of KCSIE.

7. SAFEGUARDING ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Governing Body

The Chairman of the Governors and the Governing Body are responsible for overseeing all aspects of Safeguarding in the School. The **Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding** is Rebecca Lawes.

The Governing Body undertakes an annual review of the School's Safeguarding policies and procedures and of the efficiency with which the related duties have been discharged. Any deficiencies or weaknesses in child protection arrangements are remedied without delay.

Designated Staff

In addition to the Head, the following people have designated responsibility for Safeguarding at the School. The Designated Safeguarding Leads should always be available to discuss safeguarding concerns including, so far as is possible, in the holidays. In the exceptional circumstances that they are not available, Staff should not delay in taking appropriate action and should consider speaking to a member of the Leadership Team and/or take advice from Children's Services. Any action taken should be shared with the DSL as soon as possible.

- Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSLs) Daviona Watt, Deputy Head at Oundle School Stacey Crump, Deputy Head at Laxton Junior School and DSL for the Early Years Foundation Stage
- Deputy Designated Safeguarding Leads (DDSLs) Ben Raudnitz, Director of Safeguarding at Oundle School Fraser Harper, Deputy DSL at Laxton Junior School
- **Designated Staff at OS** Child Protection Officers: Ellie Talbot, Sam Reid, Tabitha Dorman and Shahnaz Ford Proctor: Steve Heath

The Sports Centre has its own Safeguarding Team, led by the Sports Centre Manager Sally Dayus who is trained to DSL level. She reports to the OS Director of Safeguarding and is accountable to the OS and LJS DSLs for:

- the development and operation of Safeguarding policy and procedures in the Sports Centre in accordance with School's Safeguarding Policy/ethos
- keeping DSLs and DDSLs fully informed/liaising as required to ensure a whole school approach to safeguarding matters
- notifying the Director of Safeguarding of all matters arising, and referring any pupil issues to the OS House CPO/ LJS DSL

The Sports Centre Deputy Managers (Operations Manager, Activities Manager and Front of House Manager) are trained to CPO level.

The School is committed to succession planning to ensure continuity for all Safeguarding roles.

Staff

All members of Staff, both teaching and support, have a duty to play an active role in ensuring the safety and promoting the welfare of the children in the School's care, teaching them to keep themselves safe, including online. It is the duty of the IT Staff to ensure that internet access and electronic communication are as safe as possible. It is the responsibility of ICT teaching Staff to teach the best safe practice in electronic communication.

- > See Appendix 1 for Designated Roles Further Information
- > See Appendix 2 for Safeguarding in the Early Years Foundation Stage

8. SAFER RECRUITMENT

The School operates safer recruitment procedures and, wherever possible, one member of the recruitment panel will be safer recruitment trained. Pre-appointment checks are carried out for all Staff working for or on behalf of the School (including volunteers, supply agency staff, contractors and organisations that support our pupils). This extends to ensuring that written confirmation is received that appropriate child protection checks and procedures have been carried out by the contractor/organisation providing personnel to the School. The School maintains a Single Central Record which is regularly inspected by the Heads of Oundle School and Laxton Junior School, the Bursar and the Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding.

Further information can be found in the School's Recruitment Policy and Procedures.

9. SAFEGUARDING TRAINING

Designated Staff for Safeguarding

The Designated Staff receive training at a level appropriate to their role, which is refreshed every two years, and informal updates as necessary. Two yearly training for the DSLs and DDSLs is inter-agency training.

Staff, Volunteers, Contractors and Family Members of Staff Resident in Boarding Houses

All Staff working for and on behalf of the School (including temporary Staff and regular volunteers) need to have an awareness which is in keeping with their role of:

- a. The kinds of issues which give rise to safeguarding concerns
- b. The importance of identifying children who may need early help
- c. The guidance for identifying child abuse
- d. Their duty to report concerns and the referrals process
- e. What to do if a child or adult makes an allegation of child abuse
- f. The rules about confidentiality

All personnel under this heading, including the Head, receive training at a level appropriate to their role to ensure that they are aware of, understand and follow the School's Safeguarding procedures:

• On Appointment

All Staff working for and on behalf of the School (including temporary Staff and regular volunteers) are directed to the following documents and required to read them:

- 1. Part 1 (abridged version also available for reference at Annex A) and Annex B of 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021)
- 2. Safeguarding Policy, which includes information about the identity and role of the DSLs and Deputy DSLs
- 3. Whistleblowing Policy
- 4. Staff Behaviour Policies
 - Staff Code of Conduct (and Contractors' Code of Conduct, where appropriate)
 - o Technology Policy for Staff and Acceptable Use Policy for all Staff
- 5. Pupil Behaviour Policies
 - OS Promotion of Good Behaviour and Behaviour Management, and Countering Bullying and Cyberbullying Policy
 - LJS Behaviour and Exclusion Policy, Anti-Bullying Policy and Online Safety including Cyberbullying Policy
 - OS and LJS Technology Policy for Pupils and Acceptable Use Policy for Pupils

Contractors, who are identified by the engaging department as requiring them, are issued with the above as appropriate to the site requirements and pupil contact level (with updates as appropriate).

For Staff who are unable to access the material as a result of reading difficulties or because language is a barrier, steps are taken to ensure that they understand key information.

Family members of Staff resident in Boarding Houses are required to sign an agreement confirming the nature of their role, in accordance with the requirements of the National Minimum Boarding Standards April 2015.

• Induction

All Staff, volunteers and Governors are required to pass an online training course prior to starting work (those whose roles involve pupil responsibility), or at the beginning of their employment (those whose roles do not involve pupil responsibility), with support from line managers and the Safeguarding team where necessary. This course includes Online Safety, Children Missing Education and Prevent.

Face to face induction on arrival includes a safeguarding element tailored to individuals' roles to enable policies and procedures to be explained in context with the help of the OS and LJS Safeguarding Training Handbook. At Oundle School, the Academic Staff receive two face to face briefings from the Safeguarding team in their first two weeks, including a scenario-based training session designed to allow them to think about how they will need to put their induction training into practice. Support Staff are briefed by their Line Managers with assistance from the Safeguarding Team where appropriate.

Contractors and family members of Staff resident in Boarding Houses also receive safeguarding induction training appropriate to their roles via induction materials and a test, with updates and refresher training as required in line with the training schedule for all Staff.

• Updates and Refresher Training

Thereafter, all Staff, volunteers and Governors receive updates appropriate to their roles (by email and/or at meetings as required and at least annually) and three yearly refresher training. Their understanding is checked via online tests the results of which are logged.

• Further Support

The Government's advice 'What to do if you're worried a child is being abused: Advice for practitioners' March 2015 and '<u>Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (NSCP)</u> <u>Thresholds Guidance 2018</u>' (Oct. 2018 updated Sept. 2020) are published in the Staff Handbook for reference and referred to in safeguarding training. All Staff are encouraged to raise any queries and concerns with a member of the Safeguarding Team so that appropriate advice can be given and appropriate action taken.

Pupils

A list of contact details is published to all Oundle School pupils in case of problems or distress (including appropriate helplines outside the School). Senior pupils receive guidelines on Safeguarding procedures as part of prefect training. Oundle School has a well-established Countering Bullying Policy and Cyberbullying Policy which is to be read in conjunction with this policy.

> See Appendix 3 for contact details published to Oundle School pupils.

10. WHAT ALL STAFF NEED TO KNOW

(a) The kinds of issues which give rise to safeguarding concerns

Safeguarding concerns can arise for children and adults alike. Staff should recognise the vulnerability of children with SEN and disabilities, including to peer group isolation and peer on peer abuse. Staff should be alert to the fact that safeguarding incidents and/or behaviours can occur between children outside of the school environment. They can also be associated with factors outside the school and outside pupils' family environments. Please refer to Appendix 6 for guidance with regard to safeguarding adults.

If Staff have any concerns about a child's welfare, they should act on them immediately. They should not assume a colleague or other professional will take action and share information that will be critical in keeping children safe. They should be mindful that early information sharing is vital for effective identification, assessment and allocation of appropriate support. The Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR do not prevent, or limit, the sharing of information for the purpose of keeping children safe. Fears about sharing information **must not** be allowed to stand in the way of the need to promote the welfare, and protect the safety, of children. If in any doubt about sharing information, Staff should speak to the Designated Safeguarding Lead and/or her Deputy, and follow the School's Safeguarding policy and procedures.

Early Help

Any children may benefit from extra pastoral support but Staff should be particularly alert to the potential need, as identified in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021), for **Early Help** for a child who:

- is disabled and has specific additional needs
- has special educational needs (whether or not they have a statutory Education, Health and Care Plan)
- is a young carer
- is showing signs of being drawn in to anti-social or criminal behaviour, including gang involvement and association with organised crime groups
- is frequently missing/goes missing from care or from home
- is at risk of modern slavery, trafficking or exploitation
- is at risk of being radicalised or exploited
- is in a family circumstance presenting challenges for the child, such as drug and alcohol misuse, adult mental health issues and domestic abuse
- is misusing drugs or alcohol themselves
- has returned home to their family from care
- is a privately fostered child

Information about specific safeguarding issues is included in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021) Part 1 (abridged version also available for reference at Annex A) and Annex B which all Staff are required to read. In particular, Staff at Oundle are advised to be aware of and alert to the following issues and to report concerns promptly so that they can be followed up appropriately. Further information is available from the Safeguarding Team.

Guidance for Staff

Information on a wide range of safeguarding issues can be found in Keeping Children Safe in Education (KCSIE) 2021 including, but not limited to:

• Peer on Peer/Child on Child Abuse (including sexual violence and sexual harassment between children)

Peer on Peer/Child on Child abuse is unacceptable and will be taken seriously. It is most likely to include, but may not be limited to:

- abuse in intimate personal relationships between peers
- bullying (including cyberbullying);
- physical abuse such as hitting, kicking, shaking, biting, hair pulling, or otherwise causing physical harm; (this may include an online element which facilitates, threatens and/or encourages physical abuse)
- sexual violence, such as rape, assault by penetration and sexual assault; (this may include an online element which facilitates, threatens and/or encourages sexual violence)
- sexual harassment, such as sexual comments, remarks, jokes and online sexual harassment, which may be stand-alone or part of a broader pattern of abuse;
- sharing nudes and semi-nudes images and or videos (also known as sexting or youth produced sexual imagery);

- initiation/hazing type violence and rituals; (this could include activities involving harassment, abuse or humiliation used as a way of initiating a person into a group and may also include an online element); and
- upskirting, which typically involves taking a picture under a person's clothing without them knowing, with the intention of viewing their genitals or buttocks to obtain sexual gratification, or cause the victim humiliation, distress or alarm.

It can be motivated by sexual, racial, gender or other discrimination. Whatever form it takes, peer on peer abuse must never be tolerated and must never be passed off as 'banter', 'just having a laugh' or 'part of growing up'.

All staff should recognise that it is more likely that girls will be victims and boys' perpetrators, but that all peer-on-peer abuse is unacceptable and will be taken seriously.

Awareness raising regarding the equality and diversity agenda is a priority aim at OS and LJS. The issues identified by the Black Lives Matter and Everyone's Invited movements in society have highlighted the need for these things to be talked about so that all members of the community are aware of the unacceptability of discriminatory attitudes and behaviour and of their own unconscious bias. A whole school approach is vital to allow all involved to feel secure and able to participate in the dialogue.

The threshold for dealing with any issue of pupil behaviour under the Safeguarding Policy is when there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm. The key issues identifying the problem as abuse (rather than an isolated instance of bullying or 'adolescent experimentation' which would be anticipated to be within normal bounds in the school community) are:

- a. The frequency, nature and severity of the incident(s)
- b. The ages and relative ages of the pupils involved
- c. Whether the victim was coerced by physical force, fear or by a pupil or group of pupils significantly older than him or her, or having power or authority over him or her
- d. Whether the incident involved a potentially criminal act, and whether if the same incident (or injury) had occurred to a member of Staff or other adult, it would have been regarded as assault or otherwise actionable

All allegations and disclosures of peer on peer abuse are received, recorded, investigated and dealt with in accordance with the School's Safeguarding, Countering-Bullying and Disciplinary Policies, and other relevant guidance. Support for perpetrators as well as victims is built in as part of the process. Where there is an online element, the key consideration is for Staff not to view or forward illegal images of a child. The School's Searching and Confiscation Policy provides further advice on this issue.

Reports of sexual violence, sexual harassment and harmful sexual behaviour (HSB) are dealt with by the DSLs in the best interests of the child and in accordance with the procedures in Part 5 of Keeping Children Safe in Education (2021) 'Child on child sexual violence and sexual harassment', Sexual Violence and Sexual Harassment between children in Schools and Colleges (Dept for Education May 2018); UKCIS guidance on Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: how to respond to an incident (Appendix 4) and Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: advice for education settings working with children and young people (Appendix 7); and other relevant guidance. HSB may include the use of sexually explicit words and phrases, inappropriate touching, using sexual violence or threats and any other harmful sexual

activity. The starting point is that sexual violence and sexual harassment are not acceptable and will not be tolerated. Options for managing reports include:

- a. management internally eg through behaviour and bulling policies with the provision of pastoral support
- b. offering early help to prevent escalation of harmful behaviours into sexual violence (this can be provided via a multi-agency approach)
- c. referral to children's social care (where a child has been harmed or is at risk of harm or in immediate danger)
- d. reporting to the police in parallel with a referral to children's social care (where a report of rape, assault by penetration or sexual assault is made)

All concerns, discussions, decisions and reasons for decisions should be recorded (written or electronic).

Close monitoring of children's wellbeing and vigilance from all Staff helps to minimise the risk of peer on peer abuse. The pastoral network encourages the building of trusting relationships between Staff and pupils in order to encourage children to raise concerns promptly. Staff seek feedback from pupils on any locations or times of day where they may feel vulnerable. This feedback is sought formally and informally on an ongoing basis. This feedback informs assessment of risk and planning for the protection of all children in School and beyond, both on- and off-line

• Mental Health Concerns

Mental health concerns can be indicators that a child has suffered, or is at risk of suffering abuse, neglect or exploitation. The School's Mental Health Lead advises staff on how best to support children when concerns are identified: Staff are not expected to be mental health experts nor are they responsible for diagnosing concerns. The School sees mental health concerns (eg anxiety, low mood, eating disorders, self-harm) as safeguarding issues, and support is provided through the OS Pastoral Support Committee and Child Protection and Welfare Group process and the LJS pastoral framework. This work is conducted in liaison with the Emotional Wellbeing Team and external agencies as appropriate.

• Online Safety

The breadth of issues classified within online safety is considerable, but can be categorised into four areas of risk (known as the '4 Cs'):

content: being exposed to illegal, inappropriate or harmful content, for example: pornography, fake news, racism, misogyny, self-harm, suicide, anti-Semitism, radicalisation and extremism.
contact: being subjected to harmful online interaction with other users; for example: peer to peer pressure, commercial advertising and adults posing as children or young adults with the intention to groom or exploit them for sexual, criminal, financial or other purposes'.

• **conduct**: personal online behaviour that increases the likelihood of, or causes, harm; for example, making, sending and receiving explicit images (e.g consensual and non-consensual sharing of nudes and semi-nudes and/or pornography, sharing other explicit images and online bullying; and

• **commerce** - risks such as online gambling, inappropriate advertising, phishing and or financial scams.

The School's online safety policy is set out in its Technology Policies and Acceptable Use Policies for Staff and Pupils which are to be read in conjunction with the Code of Conduct. The School's

approach to online safety is co-ordinated by the Online Safety Groups at Oundle School and Laxton Junior School. Online safety is included in the curriculum at all levels and information is provided to parents/carers. Mechanisms are in place to identify, intervene in, and escalate any incident where appropriate. All staff are expected to be aware of the School's online safety policies and what to do if they have concerns/where to go for further help.

• Sharing nudes and semi-nudes (formerly referred to as 'sexting')

In the latest advice for schools and colleges (UKCIS, 2020), this is defined as the sending or posting of nude or semi-nude images, videos or live streams online by young people under the age of 18. This could be via social media, gaming platforms, chat apps or forums. It could also involve sharing between devices via services like Apple's AirDrop which works offline. Alternative terms used by children and young people may include 'dick pics' or 'pics'.

The motivations for taking and sharing nude and semi-nude images, videos and live streams are not always sexually or criminally motivated.

This advice does not apply to adults sharing nudes or semi-nudes of under 18-year olds. This is a form of child sexual abuse and must be referred to the police as a matter of urgency.

What to do if an incident comes to your attention:

Report it to your Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) or equivalent immediately.

- Never view, copy, print, share, store or save the imagery yourself, or ask a child to share or download this is illegal.
- If you have already viewed the imagery by accident (eg if a young person has showed it to you before you could ask them not to), report this to the DSL (or equivalent) and seek support.
- Do not delete the imagery or ask the young person to delete it.
- Do not ask the child/children or young person(s) who are involved in the incident to disclose information regarding the imagery. This is the responsibility of the DSL (or equivalent).
- Do not share information about the incident with other members of staff, the young person(s) it involves or their, or other, parents and/or carers.
- Do not say or do anything to blame or shame any young people involved.
- Do explain to them that you need to report it and reassure them that they will receive support and help from the DSL (or equivalent).
- See Appendix 4 for Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: how to respond to an incident; and Appendix 7 for Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: advice for education settings working with children and young people (UKCIS)

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE)

Both CSE and CCE are forms of abuse and both occur where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity or criminal activity. The abuse can be a one-off occurrence or a series of incidents over time, and range from opportunistic to complex organised abuse. Staff are expected to be vigilant to any signs that children might be suffering from CSE or CCE and to report any concerns to the DSL. Further information about these forms of abuse is available in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021).

• Radicalisation/Extremism

The School assesses the risk of pupils being subject to radicalisation or drawn into terrorism or other extremist activity on an ongoing basis, training Staff and educating pupils in order to identify individual children who may be at risk and protect them. The DSLs oversee and coordinate the School's implementation of the Prevent Duty, which is fully integrated into the School's recruitment procedures. Further information can be found in the School's Prevent Duty Policy, including the procedure for dealing with any concerns, whether these are handled internally or reach the threshold for an external referral to Children's Services or the Channel programme.

• FGM Duty to Report

All Staff are made aware of the mandatory duty effective from 31 October 2015 for teachers and regulated health and social care professionals to report **known** cases of FGM (Female Genital Mutilation) in under 18s which they identify in the course of their professional work to the police. 'Known' cases are those where either a girl informs the person that an act of FGM – however described - has been carried out on her, or where the person observes physical signs on a girl appearing to show that an act of FGM has been carried out.

All Staff should report any concerns immediately to the Designated Safeguarding Lead who will follow the procedures set out in the Home Office document 'Mandatory Reporting of Female Genital Mutilation – procedural information' (October 2015). The Designated Safeguarding Lead will also have regard to the HM Government document 'Multi-agency statutory guidance on female genital mutilation' (July 2020) and the Department of Health document 'Female Genital Mutilation Risk and Safeguarding – Guidance for Professionals' (May 2016).

Alternatively, Staff may report direct to the police and, if appropriate, to Children's Services, informing the DSL immediately if they follow this route. **Suspected** or **at risk** cases or cases relating to girls aged 18 or over should be discussed with the DSL who will follow the School's normal Safeguarding procedures and involve Children's Services as appropriate.

• Children Missing Education (CME)

The School follows the procedures laid out in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021) and '<u>Children Missing Education</u>' (Dept. for Education statutory guidance for local authorities September 2016), following OS and LJS protocols for passing on information to the Local Authority and other schools where necessary with regard to all leavers. In accordance with the requirements of KCSIE 2021, where reasonably possible the school holds more than one emergency contact number for each pupil.

• Looked After Children (LAC)

The School is committed to meeting the needs of Looked After Children, including ensuring that Staff are appropriately trained to fulfil their responsibilities and keep them safe. A previously looked after child potentially remains vulnerable, and the School will work with other agencies as necessary to ensure that prompt action is taken when necessary to safeguard their welfare.

• Private Fostering

The School is required to notify any local authority in whose area a child is residing of any private fostering arrangements. Private fostering happens when a child under the age of 16 (under 18 if disabled) is cared for by someone who is not their parent or a 'close relative'. This is a private arrangement made by a parent and a carer for 28 days or more. Close relatives are defined as stepparents, grandparents, brothers, sisters, uncles or aunts (whether of full blood, half blood or marriage/affinity).

• Domestic Abuse

The School is committed to working in partnership with Northamptonshire County Council and Northamptonshire Police to identify and provide appropriate support for pupils who have experienced domestic abuse in their household; nationally this scheme is called Operation Encompass. In order to achieve this, Northamptonshire County Council will share with the Designated Safeguarding Lead(s), police information relating to domestic incidents where one of the School's pupils has been affected. On receipt of any information, the Designated Safeguarding Lead(s) will decide on the appropriate support the child requires.

All information sharing and resulting actions will be undertaken in accordance with the Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership protocols at http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/schools/safeguarding-themes/domestic-abuse-notifications-schools/. The School will make an appropriate record and store this information in accordance with the record keeping procedures outlined in this policy.

• Further Safeguarding Issues

Other areas in which the School is required to be vigilant include (but are not limited to) cases of neglect, serious violence including involvement with criminal networks or gangs and county lines activity, and so-called 'honour-based' abuse.

Honour-based abuse includes FGM (see above) and forced marriage. Abuse committed in the context of preserving 'honour' often involves a wider network of family or community pressure, and can include multiple perpetrators. It is important to be aware of this dynamic and additional risk factors when deciding what form of safeguarding action to take.

Important additional information about a wide range of specific forms of abuse and safeguarding issues is available in 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' (Dept. for Education 2021) Part 1 under Safeguarding Issues and in Annex B.

(b) The importance of identifying children who may need early help

Staff are advised to contact a member of the Safeguarding Team if they have concerns about children who may be in need of early help so that support can be provided and issues addressed. A pre-emptive approach is desirable to prevent smaller issues turning into bigger problems.

Information on early help, prevention and statutory services for everyone working with children is available in '<u>Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (NSCP) Thresholds Guidance 2018</u>' (Oct. 2018 updated Sept. 2020).

Staff should always bear in mind that additional barriers can exist when recognising abuse and neglect in pupils with special educational needs (SEN) and disabilities. These can include:

- Assumptions that indicators of possible abuse such as behaviour, mood and injury relate to the child's disability without further exploration
- The potential for children with SEN and disabilities being disproportionally impacted by behaviours such as bullying, without outwardly showing any signs
- Communication barriers and difficulties in overcoming these barriers.

The School takes account of individuals' particular needs in the development of its support structures for these children.

(c) The guidance for identifying child abuse

Significant harm can take a variety of forms. It could be physical, emotional or sexual abuse, or it could also manifest as neglect (eg failing to act to prevent harm to a child). Sometimes a number of issues may present at the same time. Examples may include:

- Abuse by an adult or adults
- Abuse by another child or children (peer on peer abuse)
- Abuse by people known to or not known to the child
- Real world settings in a family, institution or community
- Virtual world settings eg via gaming platforms or social media sites

(d) Staff's duty to report concerns and the referrals process

The School has a duty to refer information to Children's Services if it is believed or suspected that a child is suffering or is likely to suffer significant harm. Any such referral must be made as soon as possible when any concern of significant harm becomes known, and the greater the level of perceived risk, the more urgent the action should be. The suspicion or allegation may be based on information which comes from different sources. It may relate to a single incident or an accumulation of lower level concerns. When in doubt, concerns must be shared.

The procedures for reporting concerns are set out below:

Concerns about a child

Staff (including volunteers) working for or on behalf of the School are required to report any concerns about a child suffering or being at risk of suffering significant harm (whether in or outside the School) to a member of the Safeguarding Team **on the same day**.

	Oundle School	Laxton Junior School
Concerns	Defer to a member of the Sefection	Refer to DSL or DDSL or, in their
about a	Refer to a member of the Safeguarding	absence, to a member of the
child (incl.	Team at OS	Safeguarding Team at OS
Peer on	on If the concern relates to harm perpetrated by someone else, do not inform that	
Peer abuse)	person	

The DSL will assess the situation and make a decision about whether to take advice/make a referral to Children's Services, or specialist services or early help services in accordance with the thresholds set by the Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership. If the DSL or Deputy DSL is not available, Staff should not delay taking appropriate action and should consider speaking to a member of the Leadership Team and/or taking advice from Children's Services. Any member of Staff can make a referral direct to Children's Services, but they should inform the DSL as soon as possible so that an appropriate course of action can be agreed. Staff must not agree confidentiality with the child and must always act in the best interests of the child.

The School will always take into account the child's wishes and feelings when determining what action to take and what services to provide to protect individual children, through ensuring that there are appropriate systems in place for children to express their views and give appropriate feedback. If, following a referral, a child's situation does not appear to be improving, the DSL (or the person who made the referral) should press for re-consideration to ensure that the concerns have been addressed, and, most importantly, that the child's situation improves.

If a child is **in immediate danger or left alone**, the police should be contacted directly (03000 111222/ 999) and/or an ambulance called (999) where there is need of medical assistance. If, at any point, there is a risk of immediate serious harm to a child, a referral should be made to Children's Services and/or the police immediately. **Anyone can make a referral.** Parental consent is not required for referrals to statutory agencies.

The DSLs at Oundle School and Laxton Junior School keep confidential records of all concerns, discussions, decisions and reasons for those decisions made with regard to safeguarding issues. These records are reviewed regularly so that concerning patterns of behaviour can be identified.

Concerns about another Staff member

Staff working for or on behalf of the School (including volunteers) are required to report any concerns about other Staff members as follows. A concern about a member of Staff is defined as follows:

- if there is a concern that the behaviour of a member of Staff has or may put a child at risk of significant harm; or
- if there has been a breach, or a suspected breach of School policy which relates to the safeguarding of children; or
- if it is reported to a member of Staff that there has been a breach of School policy which relates to the safeguarding of children.
- This includes low level concerns (see Appendix 5).

Further information is in the School's Whistleblowing Policy.

	Oundle School	Laxton Junior School	
Concerns	Report directly to Head of OS or in her absence to DSL (DDSL if it is about DSL)	Report directly to Head of LJS or in his absence to DSL (DDSL if it about DSL)	
about a member of	Do not inform the person about whom the concern has been raised		
Staff (incl.	Head of OS will inform Chairman of		
DSL) or	Governors, Rebecca Lawes, Governor	Head of LJS will inform Head of OS who	
Volunteer	with specific responsibility for	will follow the procedure to the left	
	Safeguarding and contact Designated		

	Officer at the NorthamptonshireSafeguarding Children Partnershipimmediately to discuss, consider andagree a course of action.http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/schools/referrals-eha/designated-officer/(01604 364031/ 01604 367862/ 01604362633)
	Report directly to Chairman of Governors
Concerns about the	Do not inform Head of OS or LJS
Head of OS/LJS	Chairman of Governors will inform Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding and Designated Officer at Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (see above)
Note	Staff may consider discussing any concerns with the DSL and may make any report via them.

See Appendix 5 for further information about 'Low Level' Concerns, Referrals Procedure and the School's Duty to Report

(e) What to do if a child or adult makes an allegation of child abuse

- Staff receiving an allegation of child abuse should:
 - Limit any questioning to the minimum necessary to seek clarification only
 - Stop asking any more questions as soon as the pupil or adult has disclosed that he or she believes that something abusive has happened to him or her, or to someone else
 - Strictly avoid 'leading' the pupil or adult who has approached them
 - Only ask questions of the 'Tell me what has happened' type
 - **Not** make suggestions or introduce their own ideas about what may have happened
 - Not ask questions like 'Did s/he do x to you?'
- Staff should then:
 - Tell the informing pupil or adult that they will now make sure that the appropriate people are brought in to follow up the problem
 - Ask them what steps they would like to be taken to protect them now that they have made an allegation, assuring them that the School will do their best to follow their wishes
 - Make a written record as soon as possible of what you have been told, using the child's words as far as possible
 - Refer the matter the same day, with all relevant details, to a member of the Safeguarding Team, the Head or the Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding in accordance with the procedures in section 5(d)
 - If this cannot be done, contact Children Services direct

Contact details for Early Help support, the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the Designated Officer at Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership are at: <u>Contact Early</u> <u>Help Support or the MASH</u>

(f) The rules about confidentiality

Staff must never give absolute guarantees of confidentiality to pupils or adults wishing to tell them about something serious. They should however guarantee that:

- They will only pass on information to the minimum number of people who must be told in order to ensure that the proper action is taken to sort out the problem
- They will never tell anyone who does not have a clear 'need to know'
- They will take whatever steps they can to protect the informing pupil or adult from any retaliation or unnecessary stress that might be feared after a disclosure of alleged abuse has been made

Staff must not publicly speculate about any allegation of (or hint of) criminal offence against an employee and must not respond to any request from the media, pupils, parents or the public for statements, either written or verbal. Any such requests must be directed to the Publicity and Press Relations Officer who will agree the wording of any statement with the Head or Bursar.

(g) Avoiding poor practice

It is important for children to receive the right help at the right time to address safeguarding risks, prevent issues escalating and to promote children's welfare. Research and serious case reviews have repeatedly shown the dangers of failing to take effective action. Examples of poor practice include

- Failing to act on and refer the early signs of abuse and neglect
- Poor record keeping
- Failing to listen to the views of the child
- Failing to re-assess concerns when situations do not improve
- Not sharing information with the right people within and between agencies
- Sharing information too slowly
- A lack of challenge to those who appear not to be taking action

11. ALLEGATIONS: PROCEDURES

Members of the School do not investigate serious allegations of child abuse themselves:

- These are always reported to Children Services and, if necessary, the police, and externally managed.
- Alleged victims, perpetrators, those reporting abuse and others involved will not be interviewed by members of Staff beyond the point at which it is clear that there is an allegation of abuse.
- The interviewing of children and adults involved will be carried out by specially trained Staff only, following procedures in line with government requirements and in the light of the recommendations of past inquiries into the handling of child abuse issues.
- When a serious allegation is made against a member of Staff then the School will report it, and any findings following investigation, to the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and, if appropriate, the Teaching Regulation Agency (formerly NCTL) even if the School has ceased to use that person's services.

Allegations against other children are dealt with in accordance with the School's Safeguarding policy and procedures:

- The School takes whatever steps are necessary to safeguard the welfare of all pupils in these circumstances, with an awareness of the specific needs of pupils in the boarding environment.
- Consideration is given to whether the personal circumstances of the alleged perpetrator or any outside influences may have had an impact on their behaviour.
- Advice is sought from Children's Services if necessary and outcomes effected internally or by referral to external bodies as required.
- Appropriate support, tailored to the needs of the children involved, is put in place for both victims and perpetrators of peer on peer abuse.

In the event of an allegation against a child:

- The parents of the alleged perpetrator(s) should be told about the allegation as soon as possible if they do not already know of it.
- However, where a strategy discussion is required, or police or Children's Services need to be involved, they should not be informed until those agencies have been consulted and have agreed what information can be disclosed.
- Parents or carers should be kept informed about the progress of the case, including the outcome of any disciplinary process, in all cases where there is not a criminal prosecution. The deliberations of a disciplinary hearing, and the information taken into account in reaching a decision, cannot normally be disclosed.
- Parents and carers should also be made aware of the prohibition on reporting or publishing allegations against teachers. If parents or carers wish to apply to the court to have reporting restrictions removed, they should be advised to seek legal advice.

12. COVID-19

This section replaces the Covid Addendum to the Safeguarding Policy which was in force until August 2021. From March 8th 2021 all children, except those who are clinically extremely vulnerable and have been directed to shield at home, have been expected to attend school.

(a) Guidance

The school operates in accordance with Covid-19 guidance from the Department from Education, '<u>Schools</u> <u>COVID-19 operational guidance'</u> and <u>'Actions for early years and childcare providers during the</u> <u>coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak'</u>.

(b) Reporting a Concern

Staff are trained to continue to follow the communication channels defined in this Safeguarding Policy and report concerns about children and adults without delay in accordance with usual procedures.

(c) Safeguarding Training and Safer Recruitment

The School has continued its commitment to high quality safeguarding training and safer recruitment procedures since the advent of Covid-19.

(d) Attendance Arrangements and Monitoring

In line with government guidance, the School expects all children to attend school unless they are selfisolating or shielding. The School is responsible for recording attendance, following up absence and reporting children missing education to the local authority in accordance with Government requirements. Parents or carers should contact the School on the first day of absence and inform the school of the reason why the child is not in attendance. Parents should inform the school of any COVID-19 tests that have been carried out and continue to keep the school informed of reasons for absence, as appropriate.

In accordance with the 'Remote Education Temporary Continuity Direction', the School will provide remote education to pupils who are unable to attend school because they are complying with government COVID-19 guidance or legislation. The School will keep a record of remote education delivered. Absence information will be recorded in the register using the appropriate codes. Information about school attendance codes can be found in:

- <u>School attendance: Guidance for maintained schools, academies, independent schools and local authorities (August 2020)</u>
- <u>Schools coronavirus (COVID-19) operational guidance</u>

Where pupils are not able to attend school, as they are following clinical or public health advice related to coronavirus (COVID-19), the absence will not be penalised. The School understand that some parents, carers and children may be anxious about children returning to school and is committed to working closely with families who are finding the transition more challenging to ensure that children are attending regularly. The School will work with other agencies (e.g. health and other education professionals) to support school attendance if this is required, including notifying Children's Social Care if necessary of any non-attendance.

(e) Supporting Children who are Learning at Home

In the event that children are required to shield or to self-isolate, the School will continue to provide remote education and pastoral support in line with the School's Covid-19 frameworks.

(f) Supporting Emotional and Physical Wellbeing

The School is committed to supporting pupils' wellbeing through ongoing development of the academic, pastoral and co-curricular programme to meet the challenges posed by COVID-19. The School supports emotional and physical wellbeing through:

- Learning for Life and PSHE programmes
- Co-Curricular programmes
- Advice, support and training from the Mental Health Lead
- Directing pupils, staff and parents to helpful resources
- Having the child's welfare at the forefront when setting expectations for pupil's learning, whether remotely or in school
- Promoting positive behaviour, taking into account the potential impact of the pandemic
- Being alert to the potential for anxiety, stress or low mood, particularly those who are vulnerable
- Recognising that different children will react differently to the current situation
- Offering support to children emotional via the pastoral system and, where possible, by the Emotional Wellbeing Team

- Advocating a Team around the Child approach to identify issues and develop strategies for support, using the School's established referral pathways
- Working with pupils, parents and external agencies

For children who are identified as a cause for concern, the School will continue to operate support structures in accordance with normal procedures, working with the children themselves, their parents and external agencies as necessary. This requires agreement of appropriate mechanisms for monitoring and review of progress and, if appropriate, arrangements for information sharing between medical professionals to enable the School to provide the best possible care and support for the individual. If the School is concerned at any time that the best interests of the individual are not being met and that Early Help or a referral to Social Services might be needed, it will consult Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership's Thresholds Guidance and act accordingly.

(g) Supporting Vulnerable Children

If pupils who are self-isolating or shielding are within the Government's definition of 'vulnerable', the School will keep in regular contact with them by providing remote learning which includes live lessons and pastoral time. Communication with parents will also be important to ensure that appropriate support is provided.

When a vulnerable pupil is required to self-isolate, the School will:

- notify their social worker (if they have one);
- agree with the social worker the best way to maintain contact and offer support;
- check if a vulnerable pupil is able to access remote education support;
- support them to access it (as far as possible); and
- regularly check if they are accessing remote education.

<u>The Government</u> considers vulnerable children and young people include those who:

- are assessed as being in need under section 17 of the Children Act 1989, including children and young people who have a child in need plan, a child protection plan or who are a looked-after child
- have an education, health and care (EHC) plan
- have been identified as otherwise vulnerable by educational providers or local authorities (including children's social care services), and who could therefore benefit from continued full-time attendance. This might include:
 - children and young people on the edge of receiving support from children's social care services or in the process of being referred to children's services or who have previously received support from children's social care services (as identified by local authorities)
 - o adopted children or children on a special guardianship order
 - those at risk of becoming NEET ('not in employment, education or training')
 - o those living in temporary accommodation
 - those who are young carers
 - those who may have difficulty engaging with remote education at home (for example due to a lack of devices or quiet space to study)
 - o care leavers
 - children and young people in a family circumstance presenting challenges for them, such as drug and alcohol misuse, parental offending, adult mental health issues and domestic abuse

 o there at the provider and local authority's discretion including pupils and students who need to attend to receive support or manage risks to their mental health

The School recognises that provision for pupils who have SEND may have been disrupted during the period of restrictions on attendance. Staff will work with local services (such as health and the local authority) to ensure the services and support are in place for a smooth return to School for such pupils.

(h) Clinically extremely vulnerable (CEV) children

Children who have been confirmed as clinically extremely vulnerable and have received a shielding letter should not attend school until they have been removed from the shielding patient list. The School will request a copy of the shielding letter and any other information that may be required to enable appropriate arrangements to be put in place for remote learning alongside social and emotional support.

(i) Supporting children on site

The School will refer to the Government guidance for education and childcare settings on how to support a safe environment and continue to follow the advice from Public Health England on handwashing and other measures to limit the risk of spread of COVID-19.

(j) Peer on Peer Abuse

Any disclosures of peer-on-peer abuse are dealt with and recorded in accordance with the School's Safeguarding Policy, having regard to the guidance in Part 5 of KCSIE 2021 and the School's Behaviour Policies and Countering Bullying and Cyberbullying Policies. The School recognises that during any COVID-19 restrictions, an adapted process will be required for managing any report of such abuse and providing appropriately tailored support for victim(s) and perpetrator(s). The School will listen and work with the pupils involved, and parents/carers and any multi-agency partner required to ensure the safety of all pupils.

(k) Online Safety

The School recognises that children both on-site and off-site are vulnerable to abuse and radicalisation online. Children who are at home because they are self-isolating or shielding may be spending more time online and this increases their vulnerability.

The School's approach to online safety is co-ordinated by the Online Safety Groups at Oundle School and Laxton Junior School. Online safety is included in the curriculum at all levels and information is provided to parents/carers as appropriate. The School's online safety policy is set out in its Technology Policies and Acceptable Use Policies for Staff and Pupils which are to be read in conjunction with the Code of Conduct.

The School is committed to providing a safe environment for the pupils online during any COVID-19 restrictions and at any time where remote learning is in place. It is essential that all interaction between Staff and pupils is conducted within the School system to ensure that appropriate filtering and monitoring can take place. All Staff and pupils are expected to be aware of the School's online safety policies, including acceptable use agreements, and what to do if they have concerns/where to go for further help.

All electronic communication with pupils takes place using Teams or the School's email platform. Any preexisting relationships or situations which mean this cannot be complied with must be discussed with the DSL. The School will continue to ensure the use of online learning tools and systems is in line with privacy and data protection, including GDPR, requirements.

Normal channels for the raising of any safeguarding concerns continue to apply during COVID-19, with mechanisms in place to identify, intervene in, and escalate any incident where appropriate. Given the current situation, the importance of using neutral notification reporting routes is emphasised to the pupils if they encounter any concerns online, with signposts both internally and to age-appropriate sites externally as follows:

Internet matters – information for parents – <u>https://internetmatters.org</u> Childline - for support - <u>https://www.childline.org.uk/get-support/</u>

UK Safer Internet Centre - to report or remove harmful content - <u>https://reportharmfulcontent.com/</u> CEOP – advice on making a report about online abuse - <u>https://www.ceop.police.uk/safety-centre</u>

Staff receive safeguarding training to ensure they are equipped with the skills to keep children safe when using technology for remote learning.

(1) Remote Teaching and Learning

Online teaching and learning where utilised should follow the same principles set out in the School's Staff and Pupil Codes of Conduct, alongside the appropriate Teaching and Learning policies. It is imperative that all Staff who interact with children continue to model appropriate behaviour and look out for signs a child may be at risk, reporting any concerns through the usual channels so that they can be dealt with in accordance with the School's Safeguarding Policy.

The School has provided guidance for Staff and pupils to support them in the remote learning environment. The Safeguarding Team are available to answer queries as they arise. Parents are informed of these arrangements and asked to reinforce with their children the messages which they have learned about keeping themselves safe online, the need for good judgement over what they post, and the importance of raising any concerns promptly with a trusted adult so that these can be addressed. They are also provided with useful resources to assist them in supporting their children to keep themselves safe at home. This guidance will be updated and reissued to parents, pupils and Staff as appropriate.

(m) Contingency Planning

In the event that restrictions in schools are needed to help contain the spread of the virus, the School will refer to the contingency framework, which is reviewed on an ongoing basis and outlines how the School should operate in the event of any restrictions. The School will always ensure that safeguarding children is its priority and work within restrictions to keep children safe.

Appendix 1 Designated Roles – Further Information

Governing Body Responsibilities

Governing Body responsibilities are set out in full in KCSIE 2021 Part 2 – The Management of Safeguarding.

Insert link

In summary, these responsibilities include:

• Legislation and the law

- Governors must have regard to the relevant guidance, ensuring policies, procedures and training are effective and comply with the law at all time
- Governors should have a senior board level (or equivalent) person to take leadership responsibility for their school's safeguarding arrangements

• Whole school approach to safeguarding

- This means ensuring safeguarding and child protection are at the forefront and underpin all relevant aspects of process and policy development
- All systems, processes and policies should operate with the best interests of the child at their heart
- Where there is a safeguarding concern, governing bodies, proprietors and school or college leaders should ensure the child's wishes and feelings are taken into account when determining what action to take and what services to provide
- Systems should be in place for children to express their views and give feedback

• Safeguarding policies and procedures

- Governors should ensure there are appropriate policies and procedures in place in order for appropriate action to be taken in a timely manner to safeguard and promote children's welfare
- This includes (but is not limited to)
 - An effective child protection policy, which meets the requirements set out in KCSIE, is reviewed annually (as a minimum) and is available on the school website
 - A behaviour policy which includes measures to prevent bullying (including cyberbullying)
 - A staff behaviour policy which should include acceptable use of technologies, staff/pupil relationships and the use of social media
 - Appropriate safeguarding arrangements to respond to children who go missing from education
 - The provision of these policies to all staff on induction
 - The taking of a risk-based approach to the level of information that is provided to temporary staff and volunteers
 - Appropriate safer recruitment procedures in accordance with Part 3 of KCSIE
 - Ensuring where reasonably possible that schools hold more than one emergency contact number for each pupil

• The designated safeguarding lead

• Governors should ensure an appropriate senior member of the school leadership team is appointed to this role

- This person should take lead responsibility for safeguarding and child protection (including online safety)
- Responsibilities and requirements for training and availability are defined in KCSIE Annex C

• Multi-agency working

- Governors should ensure that the school contributes to multi-agency working in line with statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, and liaising with the three safeguarding partners and other agencies in line with Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2018
- They should understand the local criteria for action and the local protocol for assessment and be prepared to supply information as requested by the three safeguarding partners

• Information sharing

- Schools have clear powers to share, hold and use information to identify and tackle all forms of abuse and neglect, and promote children's welfare, including their educational outcomes
- Governors should recognise the importance of information sharing between practitioners and local agencies, and ensure that relevant staff have due regard to the relevant data protection principles which allow them to share (and withold) personal information as provided for in the Data Protection Act 2018 and the GDPR
- This legislation does not prevent the sharing of information for the purposes of keeping children safe. Fears about sharing information must not be allowed to stand in the way of the need to safeguard and promote the welfare and protect the safety of children
- The requirement to share information includes the transfer of any child protection file in accordance with the criteria in KCSIE to support children's transition should they leave the school

• Staff training

- Governors should ensure that all staff undergo safeguarding training (including online safety) at induction and via regular updates (at least annually) as part of a whole school approach
- Training should be in line with advice from the three local safeguarding partners

• Opportunities to teach safeguarding

- Governors should ensure that children are taught about safeguarding, including online safety, as part of a broad and balanced curriculum and a whole school approach
- This links with the mandatory requirement for schools to teach Relationships Education (primary) and Relationships and Sex Education (secondary)
- There should be a whole school approach to teaching about online safety, to protect and educate pupils and staff in their use of technology and establish mechanisms to identify, intervene in and escalate concerns where appropriate
- Online safety education should encompass the 'three C's' as defined in KCSIE: content, contact and conduct.
- Governors should ensure that their school has appropriate filtering and monitoring systems in place to limit children's exposure to risk on the school's system

The Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding is Mrs Rebecca Lawes (01223 301354 / 07802 888579). She is responsible for:

- Meeting with the Designated Safeguarding Leads at Oundle School and Laxton Junior School regularly (at least once a year)
- Receiving updates on Safeguarding matters and discussing matters arising
- Ensuring that Governors are kept informed of issues and developments in an appropriate manner to enable them to fulfil their Safeguarding responsibilities
- Keeping up to date through training at least every two years

The Governing Body undertakes an annual review of the School's Safeguarding policies and procedures and of the efficiency with which the related duties have been discharged including swift remediation of any deficiencies.

School Responsibilities

Head

The Head is responsible for ensuring that the policies and procedures adopted by the Governing Body, particularly concerning referrals of cases of suspected abuse and neglect, are followed by Staff.

Role Descriptions for Designated and Deputy Designated Safeguarding Leads

The role of the DSLs for Oundle School and LJS is defined in Annex C of '<u>Keeping Children Safe in</u> <u>Education</u>' (Dept. for Educ. 2021).

The DSLs are expected to undergo training to help them understand the risks associated with online safety. They should also recognise the additional risks children with SEN and disabilities can face online. They should also understand relevant data protection legislation and regulations and the importance of information sharing, both within school and with other agencies, organisations and practitioners.

The DSL at Oundle School manages the work of the Director of Safeguarding/OS DDSL and liaises with the School's Leadership Team, Mental Health Lead, Head of Human Resources, DSL at LJS and Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding to ensure that the School's Safeguarding responsibilities are discharged. This includes leadership of the School's Online Safety Group as outlined in Annex B of the School's Technology Policy for All Staff.

The DSL at Laxton Junior School manages the work of the LJS DDSL and liaises with Oundle School team and the Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding to ensure that the School's Safeguarding responsibilities are discharged.

Role Description for Director of Safeguarding

The Director of Safeguarding works under the Designated Safeguarding Lead to manage safeguarding practice and procedures at Oundle School. He or she acts as Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead for Oundle School.

Duties and Responsibilities

- being available to deputise for the Designated Safeguarding Lead should this be needed
- working closely with the Designated Safeguarding Lead to ensure that safeguarding policy and procedures are properly discharged, regularly reviewed and compliant with regulatory requirements

- working together with the Local Authority Safeguarding team as required
- liaising with the Governor with responsibility for Safeguarding and providing regular updates for the Governors on safeguarding matters
- devising a development plan for safeguarding in line with the School's strategic aims
- chairing the Child Protection and Welfare Group and line-managing the work of the Child Protection Officers
- providing advice to the Leadership team and other Staff as appropriate to ensure that a safeguarding culture is embedded across the School
- working with Hsms, colleagues, parents and external agencies where necessary to ensure that support for vulnerable children is strategically managed, coordinated and subject to ongoing monitoring and review
- liaising with the Deputy Head Pastoral in providing management supervision for the Mental Health Lead and developing strategies to promote positive mental health in the School (the Mental Health Lead reports to the Deputy Head Pastoral)
- managing the development and delivery of the School's safeguarding training programme for Staff, volunteers, contractors, governors and senior pupils
- liaising with the Director of Professional Development on Staff INSET as appropriate
- ensuring that safeguarding record keeping procedures are in place and followed
- conducting investigations into safeguarding concerns and reporting on findings
- keeping the Deputy Head Pastoral informed on trends in welfare issues to ensure that the pupils' pastoral care and education is informed by experience
- assisting with preparation for inspection on safeguarding matters
- keeping up to date through training
- attending meetings and acting as a member of interview panels as required

The Director of Safeguarding also

- acts as the designated member of Staff to promote the educational achievement of children who are looked after, working through Hsms and Tutors to achieve this
- ensures appropriate safeguarding responses to children who go missing from education settings, particularly on repeat occasions, to help identify any risk of abuse and neglect and to help prevent the risk of their going missing in future
- manages the process of sharing child protection and welfare information with other schools and (where applicable) universities in accordance with published protocols this includes considering with the DSL whether it is appropriate to share information in advance of a child's move if it ensure the new school/college can continue to support victims of abuse and have support in place when the child arrives

Role Description for LJS DDSL

The Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead (DDSL) reports to the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL), who has ultimate lead responsibility for child protection and safeguarding at Laxton Junior School. The DSL can delegate some aspects of their role, as outlined below, to an appropriately trained Deputy but this lead responsibility lies with the DSL and cannot be delegated.

The role of the DDSL for Laxton Junior School involves the same set of responsibilities as the DSL; these are defined in Annex C of '<u>Keeping Children Safe in Education</u>' (Department for Education 2021) and should be considered the basis of the DDSL job description.

First response and ultimate responsibility, however, lies with the DSL. The DDSL should only assume these responsibilities in the absence of the DSL but should provide support and advice to the DSL and Staff when required.

At Laxton Junior School, the DSL manages the work of the DDSL; the Laxton Junior School safeguarding team should liaise with the Head of Pastoral Care at Laxton Junior School, the Oundle School Safeguarding team, the School's Mental Health Lead, and the Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding; this is to ensure that the School's Safeguarding responsibilities are discharged.

Annex C of 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' details the DDSL's responsibility, alongside the DSL, towards managing referrals, working with others, training themselves and others, raising awareness, supporting transition and ensuring availability. Additional to this set of responsibilities, the DDSL at Laxton Junior School should ensure the following responsibilities, specific to our School context, are discharged as part of their role and in conjunction with the DSL.

Manage referrals

- Take responsibility for safeguarding and child protection matters in the absence of the DSL
- Provide support to the DSL when they are managing disclosures, investigations or referrals

Work with others

- Attend weekly meetings with the DSL to ensure information is shared and that the implementation of the Safeguarding Policy and procedures is consistent
- Attend monthly meetings with the DSL, Head of Pastoral Care and the Head of Laxton Junior School to ensure community support is discharged effectively
- In conjunction with the DSL, liaise, at least half-termly, with the Oundle School Safeguarding team to ensure the Safeguarding Policy is reviewed and updated, and that procedures are implemented consistently across the Oundle School Corporation
- Attend termly meetings with the Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding to ensure that the School's safeguarding responsibilities are discharged

Supporting Transition

• Support the transition of safeguarding and welfare information from and to Laxton Junior School in accordance with published protocols

Availability

• Be available to discuss safeguarding concerns at all times during School hours and, when the DSL is out of school, ensure that the safeguarding responsibilities are discharged

Online Safety

• As well as the responsibilities listed in Annex C of 'Keeping Children Safe in Education' and those listed above, the DDSL is the Online Safety Lead for Laxton Junior School and the Chair of the Online Safety Group. Where there is a safeguarding disclosure or concern that is related to online safety, this would be the DSL's responsibility to investigate but would require the support and guidance of the DDSL in their capacity as Online Safety Lead.

The responsibilities for the Online Safety Lead role are listed below:

- Lead monthly meetings of the Online Safety Group
- Develop an online safety action plan

- Ensure policies and procedures that incorporate online safety concerns are in place
- Ensure the whole school community is aware of what is considered to be safe and appropriate online behaviour
- Liaise with the local authority, and other local and national bodies as appropriate
- Work with the Laxton Junior Leadership Team and IT Department to ensure appropriate filtering and monitoring is in place.
- Report any safeguarding concerns related to online safety to the DSL immediately and support their investigation
- Ensure that online practice is in line with current legislation
- Implement online safety training for all members of Staff
- Liaise with Staff to ensure that online safety is embedded throughout the curriculum
- Promote the responsible use of technology and empower children to keep themselves safe online
- Actively engage with national events to promote positive online behaviour
- Engage with parents and carers to ensure they understand their responsibility towards keeping children safe online
- Keep up-to-date with current research, legislation and trends, and access appropriate training to ensure knowledge and skills are regularly refreshed
- Evaluate the delivery of the School's Online Safety Policy and procedures
- Report on online safety to the DSL, Laxton Junior School Leadership Team and the Governing Body
- Liaise, at least termly, with the Oundle School Online Safety Group

Role Description for OS Child Protection Officers

The CPOs work closely with the Director of Safeguarding who takes immediate line management responsibility for the day to day Child Protection work in the School.

The CPOs receive communications from Staff about safeguarding issues, complaints or allegations (with the exception of those concerning Staff). They are responsible for contacting the Director of Safeguarding promptly with a written summary of all safeguarding issues that they encounter. Having agreed the strategy for dealing with the case, they are then responsible for ensuring that the correct procedure is followed for making sure that all relevant parties liaise as appropriate and for monitoring progress and keeping accurate records. They are required to keep the Director of Safeguarding fully informed on progress, taking advice as necessary, and ensuring that there are appropriate arrangements in place for monitoring and review until the case is signed off as completed.

As part of the School's Safeguarding Training Programme, the CPOs are responsible for delivering Safeguarding Training as required. They attend regular management meetings with the Director of Safeguarding and the meetings of the Child Protection and Welfare Group. They are expected to liaise with the Hsms, School Doctors and Mental Health Lead/Pastoral Mentors as part of their casework. They are also expected to support the Director of Safeguarding with the administration of safeguarding work; for example, updating training materials, maintaining intranet pages, collating case information, preparing welfare correspondence and sharing information appropriately with those who need to know.

The Designated Child Protection Officers have a role with:

Policy

- Holding and being conversant with current local and national safeguarding procedures and inter-agency working.
- Keeping up to date through training. It is a requirement that this takes place at least every two years.

- Informing and keeping abreast of the School's annual reviews of its Safeguarding Policy.
- Advising, on the basis of their day to day experience in the job, on any areas which need attention when it comes to the development of policies and procedures to safeguard children.
- Ensuring that any deficiencies or weaknesses in safeguarding policy and procedures are remedied without delay through the Designated Safeguarding Lead.

Raising Awareness

- Developing safeguarding awareness with all involved in the School's pastoral care system.
- Briefing and guiding teaching and support Staff and senior pupils on safeguarding matters. This includes training all new Staff as part of their induction after arrival at the School. Part-time and voluntary Staff who work with children must also be made aware of the School's arrangements for Child Protection and their responsibilities. All Staff must receive Safeguarding Training at least every three years.
- Ensuring that Staff know where to find the Safeguarding Policy and procedures and that their importance is understood.

Referrals

• Liaison over safeguarding matters with the Local Safeguarding Children Partnership as directed by the Director of Safeguarding.

Appendix 2 Safeguarding in the Early Years Foundation Stage

Ms Stacey Crump, Deputy Head of Laxton Junior School, is the Designated Safeguarding Lead for the EYFS; her contact details can be found on the Safeguarding Information Posters at the start of this policy.

Laxton Junior School takes all necessary steps to ensure that all children are kept safe and well. This Safeguarding Policy details the procedures in place to safeguard all children, including those in the EYFS; additional details, specific to safeguarding in the EYFS, are found below.

In relation to the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS), the School will notify Ofsted (08456 404040 or 0300 1233155) as soon as is practicable and within 14 days of any allegations of serious harm or abuse by any person living, working or looking after children at the School whether the allegations relate to harm or abuse which took place on the premises or elsewhere. The School will provide to Ofsted the following information about themselves or an employee when relevant:

- details of any order, determination, conviction, or other ground for disqualification from registration under regulations made under section 75 of the Childcare Act 2006;
- the date of the order, determination or conviction, or the date when the other ground for disqualification arose;
- the body or court which made the order, determination or conviction, and the sentence (if any) imposed; and a certified copy of the relevant order (in relation to an order or conviction).

Laxton Junior School will also notify the local child protection agency of any serious accident or injury to, or the death of, any child while in the School's care, and will act on any advice from those agencies. The School will report any incident within 14 days.

The Cameras and Mobile Phones Policy is a requirement for all schools with EYFS. Our policy on use of mobile phones, cameras and sharing of images is set out in a separate document and is reviewed annually. It is recognised that personal mobile phones have the potential to be used inappropriately and therefore the School has developed a policy to outline the required protocol for all staff, students, volunteers and parents/carers.ou

Staff will not use personal devices to take photographs of LJS children; school-provided phones, memorycards, cameras, Surface-Pros and iPads are available in the EYFS and all other classrooms for this purpose. All School devices, that can be used to capture images of children and their learning, have a passcode enabled. If a School device, containing images of children, is lost, it must be reported to the LJS DSL immediately.

The policy must be read in full, and states:

- In the EYFS, staff should keep their mobile phones in a secure place away from the children; these are to be stored securely during the working day
- Should staff, working with children in the EYFS, need to use their phone in an emergency, this must be reported to the Head or Designated Safeguarding Lead; this is for calls taken in the EYFS classrooms, the EYFS outside area or in any classroom or area where EYFS children are present
- EYFS staff may use their devices at break times and lunch times provided that (i) pupils are not present, (ii) they are not on duty, and (iii) this does not prevent them from responding to a request for assistance from another member of staff or other aspects of their professional duties
- If a child in EYFS is ever recommended to have their own mobile phone to enable ease of contact with parents for medical reasons (eg diabetes), then this phone must remain switched off in the child's medical bag. The School recognises that it may be unsafe to keep this phone locked away and therefore a risk assessment for this phone must be written and approved by the Designated Safeguarding Lead and Head. Any phone calls on this phone will be recorded on CPOMS, and linked to Parent Contact and Medical.

• All visitors to Laxton Junior School, including Governors and contractors, must adhere to this policy as per the guidance set out for staff and parents. They must not use their phones or cameras during their visit and are not permitted to capture images of our children at any time; this will be communicated to all visitors on arrival and through the 'Visitors' Information' leaflet given to them on arrival.

Appendix 3 Contact details published to Oundle School Pupils

Pastoral Care

In addition to your Hsm, Tutor and Matron you can seek assistance at any time from any member of Staff including the following:

The Chaplaincy		01832 275360
The Revd Brian Cunningham	bjc@oundleschool.org.uk	01832 275846 (Home)
The Revd Maria Coulter	meac@oundleschool.org.uk	07734 962673
Mr William Gunson	wdg@oundleschool.org.uk	07842 069273
The Health Centre	healthcentre@oundleschool.org.uk	01832 277200/273408 (Surgery)
Lead Nurse		
Mrs Sylvia Meadows	smeadows@oundleschool.org.uk	01832 277200 (Health Centre)
Mental Health Lead		
Mrs Natalie Jarvis	njarvis@oundleschool.org.uk	
Deputy Head		
Mrs Daviona Watt	dlw@oundleschool.org.uk	01832 277113
Deputy Head Pastoral	diweoundicschool.org.uk	01032 277 113
Mrs Ann Meisner	aem@oundleschool.org.uk	01832 277113
Director of Safeguarding	dem@oundleschool.org.uk	01032 277113
Mr Ben Raudnitz	br@oundleschool.org.uk	01832 277284
Child Protection Officers	Dieounaleschool.org.uk	01032 277 204
Mrs Ellie Talbot	emat@oundleschool.org.uk	
Mrs Sam Reid	salr@oundleschool.org.uk	
Ms Tabitha Dorman	tad@oundleschool.org.uk	
Ms Shahnaz Ford	saf@oundleschool.org.uk	
Wis Sharmaz Poru	sal@oundleschool.org.uk	
Laxton Junior		
Ms Stacey Crump	smc@laxtonjunior.org.uk	07845 526372
Mr Fraser Harper	fh@laxtonjunior.org.uk	07725 165064
House Friends		
Mrs Tessa Curtis (W)		01832 720578
Mrs Mary Barkhouse (StA)		01832 782633
Mrs Anne Konig (Ldr)		01780 782873

The **Head** is available to see pupils without an appointment from 7.50am to 8.20am on Mondays, Thursdays, and Saturdays. Help can also be sought from the following:

Independent Listener Mrs Judith Stronach	jstronach555@gmail	07411 567006
Childline Northamptonshire Children & Young The Samaritans ISI Ofsted		0800 1111 0300 126 1000 08457 909090 0207 600 0100 0300 123 1231
Office of Children's Commissioner	www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk	0800 528 0731

Appendix 4 Advice for schools: Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: how to respond to an incident

Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: how to respond to an incident

UK Council for Internet Safety

An overview for all staff working in education settings in England

This document provides a brief overview for frontline staff of how to respond to incidents where nudes and semi-nudes have been shared.

All such incidents should be immediately reported to the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) or equivalent and managed in line with your setting's child protection policies.

The appropriate safeguarding lead person should be familiar with the full 2020 guidance from the UK Council for internet Safety (UKCIS), Sharing nucles and semi-nucles: advice for education settings working with children and young people and should not refer to this document instead of the full guidance.

What do we mean by sharing nudes and semi-nudes?

In the latest advice for schools and colleges (UKCIS, 2020), this is defined as the sending or posting of nude or semi-nude images, videos or live streams online by young people under the age of 18. This could be via social media, gaming platforms, chat apps or forums. It could also involve sharing between devices via services like Apple's AirDrop which works offline. Atternative terms used by children and young people may include 'dick pics' or 'pics'.

The motivations for taking and sharing nucle and semi-nucle images, videos and live streams are not always sexually or criminally motivated.

This advice does not apply to adults sharing nudes or semi-nudes of under 18-year olds. This is a form of child sexual abuse and must be referred to the police as a matter of urgency.

What to do if an incident comes to your attention

Report It to your Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) or equivalent immediately. Your setting's child protection policy should outline codes of practice to be followed.

- Never view, copy, print, share, store or save the imagery yourself, or ask a child to share or download – this is illegal.¹
- If you have already viewed the imagery by accident (e.g. if a young person has showed it to you before you could ask them not to), report this to the DSL (or equivalent) and seek support.
- Do not delete the imagery or ask the young person to delete it.
- Do not ask the child/children or young person(s) who are involved in the incident to disclose information regarding the imagery. This is the responsibility of the DSL (or equivalent).
- Do not share information about the incident with other members of staff, the young person(s) it involves or their, or other, parents and/or carers.
- Do not say or do anything to blame or shame any young people involved.
- Do explain to them that you need to report it and reassure them that they will receive support and help from the DSL (or equivalent).

For further information

Download the full guidance, Sharing nucles and semi-nucles: advice for education settings working with children and young people (UKCIS, 2020) at <u>www.gov.uk/government/publications/sharing-nucles-</u> and-semi-nucles-advice-for-education-settings-working-with-children-and-young-people.

¹ In exceptional circumstances, it may be necessary for the DSL (or equivalent) only to view the image in order to safeguard the child or young person. That decision should be based on the professional judgement of the DSL (or equivalent).

Appendix 5 'Low Level' Concerns, Referrals Procedure and the School's Duty to Report

'Low Level' Concerns

A 'low level' concern is one that does not, in the view of the Designated Safeguarding Lead, reach the threshold whereby a child is considered to be at risk of significant harm.

What is a low level concern? (KCSIE 2021 paras 409-12)

A low-level concern is any concern – no matter how small, and even if no more than causing a sense of unease or a 'nagging doubt' - that an adult working in or on behalf of the school or college may have acted in a way that:

• is inconsistent with the staff code of conduct, including inappropriate conduct outside of work; and

• does not meet the allegations threshold or is otherwise not considered serious enough to consider a referral to the LADO.

Examples of such behaviour could include, but are not limited to:

- being over friendly with children;
- having favourites;
- taking photographs of children on their mobile phone;
- engaging with a child on a one-to-one basis in a secluded area or behind a closed door; or,
- using inappropriate sexualised, intimidating or offensive language.

Such behaviour can exist on a wide spectrum, from the inadvertent or thoughtless, or behaviour that may look to be inappropriate, but might not be in specific circumstances, through to that which is ultimately intended to enable abuse. It is crucial that any such concerns, including those which do not meet the harm threshold (see KCSIE Part Four - Section one), are shared responsibly and with the right person, and recorded and dealt with appropriately. Ensuring they are dealt with effectively should also protect those working in or on behalf of schools and colleges from potential false allegations or misunderstandings

Staff are encouraged to report all concerns about children, however small, so that appropriate action can be taken. Where the School has 'low level' concerns that do not amount to allegations or suspicions of specific abuse, but which may indicate the possibility of abuse occurring, the Head should discuss these with the Designated Officer(s) at the local authority as appropriate.

- Where low level concerns have been raised but not evidenced then the School may deem it appropriate to conduct an initial investigation to clarify its course of action.
- Where low level concerns relate to Staff conduct or behaviour, but do not amount to potential abuse, then the School may choose to take appropriate disciplinary action.
- Where there is found to be evidence of concerns then the School will report its findings to Children's Services.

The School acknowledges that its policy may lead to some investigations being triggered which do not substantiate the allegation made. It is a basic assumption that it is better to endure some 'false alarms' than to fail to initiate specialist investigation of instances of real abuse.

The School should consider taking, and as necessary should take, disciplinary action against any member of Staff or agent of the School, where it believes pupils are at risk of abuse from that member of Staff, even in cases where there is to be no criminal prosecution. Disciplinary proceedings and grounds for concern over pupils' welfare may be based on 'balance of probability', rather than 'beyond reasonable doubt'. In cases where a member of Staff resigns following an allegation, the investigation should still be concluded and any findings reported to the DBS.

In some circumstances the School may need to consider an allegation against an individual not directly employed by the School, where its disciplinary procedures do not fully apply because agencies will have their own policies and procedures; for example, supply teachers or contracted staff provided by an employment agency or business. When using a supply agency, we will inform the agency of the School's process for managing allegations but also take account of the agency's policies and their duty to refer to the DBS as personnel suppliers. As part of any investigation the agency's human resource manager or equivalent will be invited to meetings and the School will keep them up to date with information about its policies.

Referrals Procedure

On receiving an allegation of abuse, the Designated Staff, Head or Governor with specific responsibility for Safeguarding, should:

- Take any steps needed to protect any pupil involved from risk of immediate harm. This may involve allocating an appropriate member of Staff, as far as possible a person chosen by the pupil him/herself to stay with him or her. An inspector receiving an allegation of abuse at the School may stay with the pupil concerned until suitable arrangements for his/her protection are made.
- Not interview or investigate the allegation further. Immediate contact should be made with the DO(s) to discuss any allegation, consider the nature, content and context of the allegation and agree a course of action including any involvement of the police. GDPR cannot be allowed to stand in the way of safeguarding children. Discussions should be recorded in writing, and any communication with both the individual and the parents of the child/children agreed. Schools must consider carefully whether the circumstances of the case warrant suspension or whether alternative arrangements should be put in place. Schools should give due weight to the views of the LADO, *KCSIE* and *WT* when making a decision about suspension. Records concerning allegations of abuse must be preserved for the term of the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse and at least until the accused has reached normal pension age or for 10 years from the date of the allegation if it is longer.
- Agree next steps in relation to:
 - Informing a pupil's parents. (It may be inappropriate to inform parents immediately when an allegation has been made.)
 - Any need for medical examination or treatment for the pupil.
 - Immediate protection that may be needed for a pupil who has been the victim of abuse, a pupil who has given information about abuse, and a pupil against whom an allegation has been made, as any of these may now be at risk.
 - Informing other appropriate people at the School (including any other members of Staff) of the allegation and its investigation. Care should be taken at this stage, as knowledge of an allegation or impending investigation can lead to a serious risk of the alleged perpetrator

'covering up' evidence that may be sought by police or putting pressure on others to remain silent. However, it is also very important that the legal requirement to protect the anonymity of any employee facing an allegation is preserved – the School needs to strike a balance between these two, ensuring its overriding duty to safeguard the welfare of pupils is not compromised.

• Informing the placing authority, if there is one.

Contacting the Designated Officer will initiate an independent investigation if this proves to be necessary, and the Designated Officer will arrange, within pre-set time limits, the involvement of the relevant specialist police personnel and if necessary a meeting of the agencies who may need to be involved, together with the School.

[NB The local authority should make a decision about the course of action to take within one working day of the referral being made and Staff should follow up on the referral if no response or information is received in this timescale.]

- Inform the pupil or adult who made the initial allegation of what the next steps are to be, having agreed these with the Designated Officer. It may be helpful for the call to the Designated Officer to be made while the pupil or adult is waiting, so that he or she can be told the likely next steps immediately after the call. If this is not possible the pupil or adult should be told the next step as soon as possible after the call.
- Inform the Head (unless she is the subject of any of the allegations or suspicions) of the allegation and the action taken as above, and agree necessary further action in line with these standards.
- In the event of an allegation being made against a member of Staff working for or on behalf of the School (including volunteers), the Head will follow the procedures in the guidelines for the Leadership Team prepared by the HR Department. The Head will consider the facts carefully and review all options (eg redeployment of member of Staff, moving pupil) before making any decision to suspend an employee (pending investigation) who is alleged to have abused a pupil or pupils. The decision to suspend should be based on firm grounds such as the accused could impede an investigation, there is a continued threat of harm or the allegations are so serious that they are likely to be grounds for dismissal. If suspension is deemed necessary, the rationale and justification for such an action must be agreed between the School and the Designated Officer, and must include the alternatives considered and why they were rejected.
- Take any necessary steps for the longer term protection and support of each pupil who has made allegations of abuse, or is alleged to have suffered from abuse, taking his or her wishes fully into account. This may involve the pupil receiving continuing support and protection from a Staff member chosen by him/her, or changing boarding accommodation, or returning to his/her parents temporarily.
- Take any necessary steps to protect and support a pupil who is alleged to have abused another. The allegation may not later be substantiated, but even if it is, the School continues to have a statutory welfare responsibility towards this pupil while he/she is at the School. Ensure that any pupil being interviewed by the police has available a supportive member of Staff of his/her own choice to accompany him/her if this becomes necessary.
- Take any necessary steps to support a member of Staff against whom an allegation has been made, in addition to protecting their anonymity, for example, offers of external counselling and appropriate reasonable support (including medical) could be considered.

- Notify the Designated Officer of the action taken, as soon as possible. Fulfil obligations to notify the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and, if appropriate, the Teaching Regulation Agency (formerly NCTL). Ensure co-operation and information sharing by and with the School in any subsequent investigation by the Children's Services or Police.
- Make arrangements where feasible for any pupil who has been the subject of abuse to receive any necessary continuing counselling and support, by agreement with his/her parents where appropriate.

The School's Duty to Report

The School has a duty to refer information to the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) if it is clear that a person has harmed, or poses a risk of harm, to a child or vulnerable adult. The School will report any individual who is barred from working with children who has tried to work in any capacity at the School. The School is committed to report to the DBS within one month of leaving the school any person (whether employed, contracted, a volunteer or a student) whose services are no longer used because he or she is considered unsuitable to work with children. Reports should include as much evidence about the circumstances of the case as possible. The School also agrees to supply information about individuals to the DBS as and when requested to do so.

Professional misconduct cases should be referred to the appropriate regulatory body (the Teaching Regulation Agency (formerly NCTL)) as well as any dismissal for serious misconduct ie misconduct of a type which may call into question whether an employee is fit to work in the education sector in the future and where a Prohibition Order may be appropriate. The Teaching Regulation Agency's guidelines on the types of misconduct which should be referred are:

- unacceptable professional conduct
- conduct that may bring the profession into disrepute
- conviction of a relevant offence
- where an individual resigns to avoid being dismissed in such circumstances

The duty on the School is to consider whether a referral should be made. If the School decides that a referral is not necessary, then the rationale for this decision should be recorded and retained by the School in the event that the Teaching Regulation Agency request the information.

Dealing with such matters is complex and the leadership team need to strike the balance between providing support to the member of Staff, investigating such matters thoroughly and fairly, and ensuring that their overriding duty to safeguard the welfare of children is not compromised.

Childcare Disqualification Requirements

The Childcare Act 2006 and the Childcare (Disqualification) and Childcare (Early Years Provision Free of Charge) (Extended Entitlement) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 state that it is an offence for the School to employ anyone in connection with early years provision (**EYP**) or later years provision (**LYP**) who is disqualified, or for a disqualified person to be directly involved in the management of EYP or LYP.

Full details about Childcare Disqualification are contained in the Recruitment Policy and Procedures. However, in summary, where the School is satisfied that a person working in a relevant setting falls within one of the disqualification criteria, then the School must inform Ofsted.

Appendix 6 Safeguarding Adults

Abuse occurs when any individual including vulnerable adults is mistreated, neglected or harmed by another person who holds a position of trust. Everyone has a right to feel safe, and to live without fear of abuse, neglect, harassment or exploitation. Abuse can take many forms and can take place anywhere.

This policy applies both to employees or other adults with whom the School comes into contact via a variety of routes. Examples include the School's links with:

- Feeder schools both in the UK and abroad
- Oundle Society and Old Oundelian Club
- Community Partnerships
- Community Action Partners
- Lets and Enterprise
- Other schools or groups visiting Oundle School or Laxton Junior School

Any concerns relating to abuse of adults working at the School or with whom the School comes into contact should be brought to the attention of the Designated Safeguarding Lead for OS or LJS promptly so that they can be acted upon in an appropriate way. The School will refer to its employment policies in such situations, taking advice from external agencies if necessary.

The School's commitment to safeguarding children and adults is outlined in the OS and LJS Information for Visitors leaflets. These are distributed to adults who come into contact with the School for a variety of purposes and available on the School websites.

Appendix 7 Key Documents

Staff working for or on behalf of the School (including volunteers) should read the School's Safeguarding Policy in conjunction with the following documents which are published in the Staff Handbook:

Guidance and advice:

- <u>'Keeping Children Safe in Education' including Part 1 and Annexes A and B (Dept. for Ed. 2021)</u>
- 'What to do if you're worried a child is being abused' (HM Government March 2015)
- Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Early Help: '<u>Northamptonshire Safeguarding</u> <u>Children Partnership (NSCP) Thresholds Guidance 2018</u>' (Oct. 2018 updated Sept. 2020).
- <u>Sexual violence and sexual harassment between children in schools and colleges (Dept. for Ed. 2021)</u>
- <u>Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: advice for education settings working with children and young people</u> (HM Govt and UKCIS 2020)
- Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: how to respond to an incident (UKCIS)
- <u>The Prevent duty: Departmental advice for schools and childcare providers (Dept. for Ed. June 2015)</u>
- <u>NSPCC guidance on Harmful Sexual Behaviour</u> and <u>Brook Traffic Light Tool</u>
- When to call the Police Guidance for Schools and Colleges (National Police Chief Council 2020)

School policies:

- Staff Code of Conduct, Whistleblowing Policy, Health and Safety (including Risk Assessment) and Data Protection Policy for Parents and Pupils
- See also other Staff Handbook Policies including:

Oundle School	Laxton Junior School
Oundle School• Countering Bullying and Cyberbullying• Pupil Absence and Missing Pupil Procedure• Pupil Welfare• Supervision of Boarders• Learning for Life (PSHE)• Relationships and Sex Education• Technology Policy for all Staff• Technology Policy for Pupils• Staff and Pupil IT Acceptable Use	Laxton Junior School• Anti-Bullying• Early Years Foundation Stage• Online Safety including Cyberbullying• Missing Child• Supervision of Children• PSHE• Relationships and Sex Education• Computing• Technology Policy for all Staff
 Attendance of Boarders Promotion of Good Behaviour and Behaviour Management Searching and Confiscation Child Protection and Welfare Group Educational Visits and Expeditions Pupil Equality and Diversity School Medical Routine and Arrangements Prevent Duty 	 Technology Policy for an Staff Technology Policy for Pupils Staff and Pupil IT Acceptable Use Photography Filming & Publication of Images Attendance Behaviour and Exclusion Prevent Duty Learning Support and EAL Educational Visits
 Physical Restraint Photography Filming & Publication of Images Complaints Visitor Control (inc. Visiting Speakers and Houses) Campus Map and Visitor Information Safer Recruitment Policy and Procedures 	 Equal Opportunities and Disability First Aid Information for Visitors Cameras and Mobile Phones Complaints Safer Recruitment Policy and Procedures

Reviewer – Oundle	DLW
Reviewer – LJS	SMC
Post of Reviewer (s)	Deputy Heads
Review Date	Sept 2021
Reviewed and filed with both Schools	
Next Review (1 year)	Sept 2022